

Bitcoin: Shariah Compliant?

Mufti Faraz Adam

Shariah Consultant
Amanah Finance Consultancy Ltd
www.afinance.org



Disclaimer:

This paper is just an opinion and expression on Bitcoin. It is by no way a final statement or fatwa on this issue. This paper was written to engage Shariah scholars and Muslim economists to try and collectively reach clarity on this matter. This is the second paper written on the subject of Bitcoin by the author. This is an updated research.

The views and opinions expressed in this research paper are those of the author only and do not in any way reflect those of the institutions to which he is affiliated.

Arguments and ideas propounded within this research paper are only for research purposes. They should not be utilised in real-world scenarios as a fatwa would as they are based on developing research and discussions.

Assumptions made within this research paper are not necessarily indicative of any official positions held by the author. Conclusions have the possibility of inaccuracy.

Permission to conduct & publish research has been sought from senior teachers and scholars.

The intent of this paper is to stimulate discussion and research among scholars and students of knowledge.

Consideration is only given and is restricted to the specific links provided, the author does not endorse nor approve of any other content the website may contain

Any observations or feedback will be appreciated. You may email the author at mfa@afinance.org



About the Author:

Faraz Adam was born in the United Kingdom. After completing college, he enrolled at the prestigious Darul Uloom Leicester in the quest to study the sacred Islamic knowledge. After six rigorous and intensive years studying Aqidah, Tafsir, Hadith, Fiqh, Usul, Arabic grammar, syntax, morphology and rhetoric, he qualified with distinction and was granted Ijazah in the above disciplines. He studied further in South Africa at Darul Iftaa Mahmudiyyah, where he completed his Mufti course under the auspicious tutelage of Mufti Ebrahim Desai, Mufti Husain Kadodia & Advocate Mufti Emran Vawda. Upon qualifying from the Darul Iftaa as a Mufti (juriconsult), he was accredited with: Masters of Arts in Islamic Theology with specialisation in Juristic verdicts (Iftaa) and Diploma specialisation in Islamic Finance under Shaykh Mufti Ebrahim Desai

Faraz has a Master's Degree in Islamic Finance, Banking and Management at the Markfield Institute of Higher Education under Newman University. He is also a Certified Islamic Finance Executive (CIFE™).

He is the director of Amanah Finance Consultancy Ltd, providing a wholesome and holistic Shariah advisory service for corporates, organisations, businesses, investors, asset managers, scholars, Imams, academics and individual clients.

He founded www.darulfiqh.com in 2011- a fatwa portal serving humanity worldwide and specialising in Islamic Finance advisory & consultancy services.

He served as a lecturer in Islamic studies at Darul Uloom Leicester for a couple of years.

He is the director of the Darul Iftaa Leicester and currently serves full-time with the National Zakat Foundation in the Services for Zakat Payers where he is engaged in product development & service provision for Zakat Payers.



Mufti Faraz provides Shariah advisory services to a number of organisations and individuals including Ethica Finance, Simplyethical and I Wills Solicitors.

He delivers lectures and workshops across UK on different aspects of Islam & specialises in delivering workshops and courses on Islamic finance and banking.



Contents

1. Introduction	7
2.0 The Philosophy of Money in Islam	8
2.1 Money in the Quran and Prophetic traditions	10
2.2 Money in Islamic history	10
2.3 Money according to contemporary Muslim thinkers	11
2.4 Types of Money Discussed in Fiqh texts	12
2.5 The Concept of Ta'āmul and Iṣṭīlāḥ for Establishing Currency	15
2.6 Money in Conventional Economics and Finance	18
3.0 The Fiqhi (juristic) Components for Currency	23
3.1 Māl (Wealth)	23
3.2 Taqawwum	26
3.3 Thamaniyyah	27
4.0 Analysis of Bitcoin	28
4.1 Defining Cryptocurrencies	28
4.2 Literature on Bitcoin	29
4.3 Overview of Bitcoin	30
4.4 Uses of Bitcoin	31
4.5 Current Opinions in the Finance Industry	32
5.0 Risks and Challenges for Bitcoin	34
5.1 Security risk	34
5.2 Technological risk	34
5.3 Money laundering risk	35
5.4 Volatility risk	35
5.5 Data risk	35
5.6 Transaction risk	36
5.7 Intermediary risk	36
5.8 Regulatory challenge	36
5.9 Structural Deflation risk	37
5.10 Competition	37
5.11 Bitcoin Scalability Risk	37
5.12 Monopoly risk	37
5.13 Liquidity risk	38
6.0 Risk Assessment in light of the Maqāṣid al-Sharia	38
6.1 Marketability and circulation	38



6.2 Transparency	39
6.3 Hifz al Māl	39
6.4 Durability	39
6.5 Equity ('adl)	39
6.6 Risk Assessment	39
7.0 Islamic Analysis of Bitcoin	40
7.1 Islamic Fiqh Analysis of Bitcoin	40
7.2 Does Bitcoin Qualify as Money in Islam?	42
7.3 Bitcoin in light of Islamic Moral Economy	43
8.0 What would Cryptocurrencies be if they became Money in future?	44
9.0 Is Centralisation Necessary for Money in Islam?	46
10.0 Conclusion	48
Bibliography	50



Abstract

The concept of money has been evolving across time. Goods, gold, silver, banknotes, electronic money have all played the role of money. The birth of blockchain technology gave rise to an innovative, decentralised peer to peer payment system called Bitcoin. This gives a glimpse of a futuristic cashless, digital economy. With all the excitement and boom of Bitcoin, the very essence of Bitcoin is still obscure. Is it money? Or a commodity? Or nothing at all? In this research, an interpretive and inductive method is adopted in analysing the primary and secondary sources of Islamic law to identify the principles of defining money in Islamic law. The various scholarly opinions are considered in respect to Bitcoin. Although the opinion that Bitcoin is not Māl (asset) at all has some weight, there seems to be a difference between Bitcoin and other derivatives. This paper reasons that Bitcoin does seem to be Māl (wealth) with Tagawwum (legal value), however, it does not possess Thamaniyyah (currency attributes). Furthermore, the associated risks with Bitcoin, the Magāṣid al-Sharia framework are considered to determine whether Bitcoin fulfils the Islamic ideals of an Islamic economic function. Bitcoin falls short of fulfilling the principles of the preservation of wealth in Shariah. Bitcoin is further assessed in terms of the principles of Islamic moral economy. A key theme and objective of Islamic moral economy is embedded financing and investments linked to the real economy. Bitcoin and cryptocurrency investments do not serve the real economy and do not promote real growth of an economy. Thus, it was concluded that Bitcoin is not ideal as a long-term investment and neither should the Islamic finance industry consider its use in exchange unless there is a specific need to until a regulated and transparent framework is established. At this current time, Bitcoins are just another investment which are for individual profit maximisation. Nevertheless, returns on Bitcoin investment would be lawful and Shariah compliant according to this understanding. However, the global Islamic finance bodies and expert Shariah scholars are in the best position to offer the most accurate advice.



1. Introduction

The last decade has witnessed many events and developments in the financial world such as the global financial crisis, the economic reforms in China, the slump in oil prices and the global drift towards a cashless economy. The digitisation of the economy has innovated payment methods and revolutionised the concept of money. Nations would barter goods they had in surplus for goods they needed as early as 9000 BC. Grains and cattle were popular goods of barter. In 1200 BC, cowries – the shells of a mollusc – were used in China as money (Wray, 2012). Thereafter, bronze and cooper cowrie imitations were manufactured in China at the end of the Stone Age in 1000 BC (Davies, 2002). This is considered to be the earliest form of metal coins. Metal tool money such as knives and spade were also used in China. The first official currency was minted by King Alyattes of Lydia in modern day Turkey in 600 BC (Luo, 1999). The coins were developed out of lumps of silver and took the familiar circular form. This technique was duplicated and refined by the Greeks, Persian, Macedonian, and later the Roman empires. These empires used precious metals such as gold, silver and bronze whilst China used based metals (Luo, 1999). In 118 BC, the first documented type of banknotes came into existence in China, where leather money was being circulated in the form of one-foot-square pieces of white deerskin with colourful borders. From the ninth to the fifteenth century, China experienced the rapid growth of paper banknotes in circulation to the point that their value rapidly depreciated and inflation soared. In 1816, gold was officially made the standard of value in England. Although banknotes were in use prior to this, this was the first time that their worth had been tied to directly to gold. In 1860, Western Union developed e-money with electronic fund transfer via telegram. In 1946, John Biggins invented Char-It Card, the first credit card. European banks began offering mobile banking with primitive smart phones in 1999. Electronic money was further developed when contactless payment cards were issued in 2008 in UK for the first time. 2008 also witnessed the birth of Bitcoin: a cryptic peer to peer electronic cash system (Bank of England, 2014). This evolution highlights the global shift towards a cashless economy. Bitcoin is being touted as the alternative to fiat currencies and the manifestation of Keynes' idea of an international currency not belonging to any single nation. However, the nature of Bitcoin is obscure due to an absence of legislation and regulatory framework. The Securities and Exchange Commission in New York has warned market participants regarding the



digital assets that they are subject to the requirements of the federal securities law. The Bank of England maintain that digital currencies remain very different from standard currencies such as sterling and the dollar because they "act as money only to a limited extent and only for relatively few people". The Financial Conduct Authority plan to report findings on the impact of digital currencies later this year. The crux of the problem is that authorities are considering that digital currencies are behaving more like an investment than a simple payment method. However, bitcoin is becoming a more acceptable and popular form of payment: consumers can buy Dell computers with Bitcoin in the US as well as gift cards. Theatre tickets can be bought with Bitcoin in the London West End shows. Peach Aviation, a low-cost Japanese airline allows payment in Bitcoin. Furthermore, Bitcoins are being directly bought and sold on websites like eBay (Inman, 2017). Despite this usage, investors are speculating on it which in turn is creating its own endogenous risks. Speculation has led to Bitcoins to behave more like popular stocks and less like currencies. All this activity and investment has left the reality of Bitcoin vague and obscure in the conventional system let alone in the Islamic finance industry. As a result, the question of what is money and whether Bitcoin can be money is beginning to take centre stage in discussions. Thus, this paper considers the nature of Bitcoin, whether it qualifies as money in Islamic law. Thereafter, Bitcoin is analysed in terms of risk management, Maqāṣid al-Shariah and the principles of Islamic moral economy to determine whether Bitcoin is a suitable Shariah compliant investment.

2.0 The Philosophy of Money in Islam

Islam does not recognise money as a subject-matter of trade, except in some special cases. Money has no intrinsic utility; it is only a medium of exchange; Each unit of money is exactly equal to another unit of the same denomination, therefore, there is no room for making profit through the exchange of these units inter se. Profit is generated when something that has intrinsic utility is sold for money or when different currencies are exchanged, one for another. The profit earned through dealing in money (of the same currency) or the papers representing them is interest, hence prohibited¹.

¹ Uthmani, M.T. (1998), An Introduction to Islamic Finance, Pakistan: Dar al-Isha'at



Imam Ibn Taymiyyah (d. 728 H) states that the physical body of money is never the objective of acquiring money, rather, it is the counter-exchange which is the objective and benefit of money². The owner of the money must spend or put labour to derive benefit from money. Alternatively, he can enter a partnership contract in a profit and loss sharing model. If the money is lent in the form of a loan, interest cannot be charged on it. Money is simply a unit of measurement. Thus, money is not a commodity in Islam. Its reward is not guaranteed, instead, it is contingent on the result of production from productive activity which generates surplus value³.

Imam Ibn Taymiyyah states in another place:

"When currencies and money are inter-traded with the intention of investment and profit, it opposes the very purpose of money and *Thamaniyyah*."

Imam Ibn al-Qayyim (d.751 H) states:

"Money is never sought for itself; rather, it is used as a means to gain commodities. When money begins to be treated as a commodity and becomes the objective of transactions, the entire (economic) system will become corrupted and in crisis."⁵

Imam al-Ghazali (d.505 H) states:

"Allah $Ta'\bar{a}l\bar{a}$ created dinar and dirham for circulation and to be an equitable and just standard between different assets. They are the means to all other assets; they are precious in themselves but not desired for themselves."

Sanusi, M. (2002). Gold Dinar, Paper Currency and Monetary Stability: An Islamic View. Viability of The Islamic Dinar, 73-90.

² فَإِنَّ الْمُقْصُودَ مِنْ الْأَثْمَانِ أَنْ تَكُونَ مِعْيَارًا لِلْأَمْوَالِ يَتَوَسَّلُ بِهَا إِلَى مَعْرِفَةِ مَقَادِيرِ الْأَمْوَالِ وَلَا يَقْصِدُ الِانْتِفَاعَ بِعَيْبَهَا (مجموع الفتاوى ج 29 ص 472 ط مجمع الملك فهد)

³ Bank of England. (2014). 2014 Q1. Quarterly Bulletin, 54(1).

⁴ فَمَتَى بِيعَ بَعْضُهَا بِبَعْضِ إِلَى أَجَلِ قُصِدَ بِهَا التِّجَارَةُ الَّتِي تُنَاقِضُ مَقْصُودَ الثمنية (مجموع الفتاوى ج 29 ص 473 ط مجمع الملك فهد)

⁵ فَالْأَثْمَانُ لَا تُقْصَدُ لِأَعْيَاضَا، بَلْ يُقْصَدُ التَّوَصُّلُ بِهَا إِلَى السِّلَعِ، فَإِذَا صَارَتْ فِي أَنْفُسِهَا سِلَعًا تُقْصَدُ لِأَعْيَاضَا فَسَدَ أَمْرُ النَّاسِ (إعلام الموقعين ج 2 ص 105 دار الكتب العلمية)

⁶ فإذن خلقهما الله تعالى لتتداولهما الْأَيْدِي وَيَكُونَا حَاكِمَيْنِ بَيْنَ الْأَمْوَالِ بِالْعَدْلِ وَلِحِكْمَةٍ أُخْرَى وَهِيَ التَّوَسُّلُ بِهِمَا إِلَى سَائِرِ الْأَشْيَاءِ لأنهما عزيزان في أنفسهما ولا غرض في أعيانهما ونسبتهما إلى سائر الأحوال نسبة واحدة فمن ملكهما فكأنه ملك كل شيء لاكمن ملك ثوباً فإنه لم يملك إلا الثوب (إحياء علوم الدين ج 4 ص 91 ط دار المعرفة)



2.1 Money in the Quran and Prophetic traditions

The Quran describes the role of money in the following manner:

"Do not entrust your wealth to the feeble-minded, which Allah has made to maintain you" (Quran 4:5)

The word used to describe wealth in this verse is *Qiwam*. This refers to something made to maintain, support and sustain others. This word reflects the true essence of money; money is a powerful means which Allah has created to upkeep and maintain the entire worldly system. It is the means to an end; not an end in and of itself. The end goal of money is to sustain one's worldly affairs to facilitate focus on the Hereafter.

The primary sources of Islam have not defined any characteristic nor condition for money⁷. The Qur'an and Sunnah only refer to the prevalent money in circulation at the time: Dinar and Dirham. At the time of revelation, the bimetallic currency was in use. In fact, the two verses of the Quran (3:75) and (12:20) shows that the previous nations also used Dirhams or silver coins. Imam Abd al-Barr states that Muslims of the prophetic era used the Roman Dinars and Persian Dirhams (Shukri, 2007).

2.2 Money in Islamic history

Caliph Abdul Malik ibn Marwan introduced the first Islamic dinar and dirham in the year 76 Hijrah (Shukri, 2007). During the Mamluk dynasty (872-922 A.H/1468-1517 CE), *Fulūs* (copper coins) came into existence to use in small commercial transactions. Its purchasing power was very limited and was for common daily needs of life (Wan Kamal, 2006). In the Ottoman empire, money was further developed. The Ottomans produced the currency named *Qaimah* in the form of paper money. In 1914, the Ottomans officially declared that paper money was the only legal tender for the medium of exchange (Yaacob, 2013).

The above developments across the Islamic empires support the view that Islam has not defined currency, instead, it has left it to people to decide their currency. Ibn Taymiyyah states that the Sharia has not defined any

وَأَمَّا الدِّرْهَمُ وَالدِّينَارُ فَمَا يُعْرَفُ لَهُ حَدٌّ طَبْعِيٌّ وَلَا شَرْعِيٌّ بَلْ مَرْجِعُهُ إِلَى الْعَادَةِ وَالِاصْطِلَاحِ: وَذَلِكَ لِأَنَّهُ فِي الْأَصْلِ لَا يَتَعَلَّقُ الْمُقْصُودُ بِهِ؛ بَلْ الْغَرَضُ أَنْ
 يَكُونَ مِعْيَارًا لِمَا يَتَعَامَلُونَ بِهِ وَالدَّرَاهِمُ وَالدَّنَايِرُلَا تُقْصَدُ لِنَفْسِهَا بَلْ هِيَ وَسِيلَةٌ إِلَى التَّعَامُلِ بِهَا وَلِهَذَا كَانَتْ أَثْمَانًا؛ بِخِلَافِ سَائِرِ الْأَمُورِ الطَّبْعِيَّةِ أَوْ الشَّرْعِيَّةِ وَالْوَسِيلَةُ الْمُحْضَةُ الَّتِي لَا يَتَعَلَّقُ بِهَا غَرَضٌ لَا بِمَادَّتِهَا وَلَا بِصُورَتِهَا يَحْصُلُ بِهَا الْمُقْصُودُ
 كَيْفَمَا كَانَتْ. (مجموع الفتاوى ج 19 ص 252 ط مجمع الملك فهد)



specific condition nor definition for currency and money, and has instead left it to the 'Urf and understanding of the people⁸. Hence, the Hanafī jurists state that assets or commodities become money and currency by Ta'āmul (common usage) and Iṣṭilāḥ (common agreement) (al-Kasani). Imam Ahmad also opined that currency and money can be identified by the agreement of the people (Ibn Qudamah).

2.3 Money according to contemporary Muslim thinkers

The introduction of fiat currency witnessed a boom in writings and researches on money. Dr Asmatullah (2013) highlights the opinions of Islamic scholars on what is money. He presents three opinions on what Islamic scholars consider as money: one group of scholars consider gold and silver as real money. A second group of scholars only class minted coins as money regardless of the metal its composed of. A third group of scholars suggest that gold and silver are the real, accepted other forms of money, other items can also be considered as money upon fulfilling certain requirements. Although this paper does not consider nor discuss virtual currencies, an argument is presented on the prerequisites in Islam to consider something as money. Yaacob (2014) addressed another aspect to currency which Dr Asamatullah's paper failed to address: the evolution of money. Yaacob (2014) discusses how the understanding of what is money has developed. In this paper, he highlights how paper money evolved from being a debt instrument to being an independent form of money. However, the most this paper considers in terms of evolution of money is fiat currencies. Similarly, Mani (1984) discusses the reality of paper money in his paper. The main contribution of this paper is the consideration of whether money has to be government backed to be considered as money. The paper proposes three views: the mineral view, the governmental view and the psychological view. This discussion assists my research to understand how digital currencies can be considered according to the different views. It is evident that the current literature is silent on the legal nature of cryptocurrencies. This is understandable as this is a new phenomenon which is still in its first decade. Thus, even conventional economists and practitioners are divided in their understanding of Bitcoin whether it qualifies as money. To date, no research has been produced from Islamic economists and Islamic finance practitioners on the Islamic legal nature on Bitcoin. Thus, this paper seeks to fill this gap in the body of knowledge and present an analysis on Bitcoin in light of Islamic law.

⁸ وَأَمَّا الدِّرْهَمُ وَالدِّينَارُفَمَا يُعْرَفُ لَهُ حَدُّ طَبُعِيُّ وَلَا شَرْعِيٌّ بَلْ مَرْجِعُهُ إِلَى الْعَادَةِ وَالِاصْطِلَاحِ؛ وَذَلِكَ لِأَنَّهُ فِي الْأَصْلِ لَا يَتَعَلَقُ الْمُقْصُودُ بِهِ؛ بَلْ الْغَرَضُ أَنْ الْمُقْصُودَ يَكُونَ مِعْيَارًا لِمَا يَتَعَامَلُونَ بِهِ وَالدَّزَاهِمُ وَالدَّنَائِرُلَا تُقْصَدُ لِنَفْسِهَا بَلْ هِيَ وَسِيلَةٌ إِلَى التَّعَامُلِ بِهَا وَلِهَذَا كَانَتْ أَثْمَانًا؛ بِخِلَافِ سَائِرِ الْأَمُورِ الطَّبْعِيَّةِ أَوْ الشَّرْعِيَّةِ وَالْوَسِيلَةُ الْمُحْضَةُ الَّتِي لَا يَتَعَلَقُ بِهَا غَرَضٌ لَا بِمَادَّتِهَا وَلَا بِصُورَتِهَا يَحْصُلُ بِهَا الْمُقْصُودُ كَانَتْ مُقَدَّرَةً بِالْأُمُورِ الطَّبْعِيَّةِ أَوْ الشَّرْعِيَّةِ وَالْوَسِيلَةُ الْمُحْضَةُ الَّتِي لَا يَتَعَلَقُ بِهَا غَرَضٌ لَا بِمَادَّتِهَا وَلَا بِصُورَتِهَا يَحْصُلُ بِهَا الْمُقْصُودُ كَانَتْ (مَجموع الفتاوي ج 19 ص 252 ط مجمع الملك فهد)



2.4 Types of Money Discussed in Figh texts

Islamic jurists state that money is of two types⁹:

Natural Money (*al-thaman al-khilqī*) – money created to serve as a medium of exchange and naturally possesses monetary value. Gold and silver are natural money. Imam al-Ghazāli (d.505 H) refers to gold and silver as natural money which Allah The Almighty created for mankind to use as a standard and measure to price and valuate (al-Ghazali, 2011).

Artificial and customary money (*al-thaman al-'urfī*) – money adopted as a medium of exchange whereby the monetary value is extrinsic to the money. Commodity money¹⁰ and fiat currencies are common artificial and customary forms of money.

One of the key differences between the two is the source of monetary value (*Thamaniyyah*) i.e. who and what primarily assigned it as money. Natural money has intrinsic *Thamaniyyah* and customary money has extrinsic *Thamaniyyah*. Gold and silver innately possess *Thamaniyyah* by which people consider them as stores of value and are ready to exchange goods in lieu of gold and silver. What is interesting to consider is that besides their unique properties, gold and silver have nothing unique about them to signify the attribute of *Thamaniyyah*. Nevertheless, across time, humans have naturally valued gold and silver which led them to use it as currency. It is as if the *Thamaniyyah* is placed by Allah into the hearts of humans for gold and silver and thus, *Thamaniyyah* has become a permanent description of gold and silver. Besides gold and silver, artificial and customary money such as commodity money and fiat money do not innately possess *Thamaniyyah*. Although commodity money has intrinsic value, it does not have *Thamaniyyah*. Humans naturally do not perceive commodities as a medium

⁹ بحوث في قضايا قفهية معاصرة للمفتى تقى عثماني ط دار القلم

¹⁰ Commodity money refers to those assets which intrinsically has value and serve another function but become an acceptable and popular medium of exchange. This was an accepted form of money in Shariah.

Commodity money are assets used as money that also have intrinsic value in some other use. In other words, it can serve as money as well as commodity due its intrinsic value. Salt, animals, shells, grains etc. are forms of commodity money. Commodity money is an acceptable form of money in Shariah when people attribute *Thamaniyyah* to a commodity.

Fiat money gets its value from a government order (i.e. fiat). That means, the government declares fiat money to be legal tender, which requires all people and firms within the country to accept it as a means of payment. Unlike commodity money, fiat money is not backed by any physical commodity. By definition, it does not have intrinsic value. Hence, the value of fiat money is derived from the relationship between supply and demand. Most of the world's paper money is fiat money. Fiat money is also an acceptable form of money in Shariah after the government assign a note, coin or electronic money value and *Thamaniyyah*.



of exchange, rather, they are the subject of an exchange. On the other hand, fiat currencies do not have intrinsic value to serve a function nor do humans naturally consider them to possess *Thamaniyyah*, instead, an extrinsic force adds the notion of *Thamaniyyah* to fiat currencies which is then perceived by the masses. Thus, money can be divided into the following:

- 1) Al-Thaman al-Khilqī (gold and silver) intrinsic Thamaniyyah and intrinsic value allowing it to be used for other purposes such as jewellery.
- 2) Al-Thaman al-'Urfī (customary money)
 - A) Commodity money has intrinsic value allowing it to be used for other functions but does not have intrinsic *Thamaniyyah*.
 - B) Fiat money No intrinsic value and therefore does not provide any considerable function besides being a medium of exchange. Neither does it have intrinsic *Thamaniyyah*.

Commodity money is an asset used as money that also has intrinsic value. In other words, it can serve as money as well as a commodity due to its intrinsic value. Salt, animals, shells, grains etc. are forms of commodity money. Commodity money is an acceptable form of money in Shariah when people attribute *Thamaniyyah* to a commodity.

Fiat money gets its value from a government order (i.e. fiat). That means, the government declares fiat money to be legal tender, which requires all people and firms within the country to accept it as a means of payment. Unlike commodity money, fiat money is not backed by any physical commodity. By definition, it does not have intrinsic value. Hence, the value of fiat money is derived from the relationship between supply and demand. Most of the world's paper money is fiat money. Fiat money is also an acceptable form of money in Shariah after the government assign value to a note, coin or electronic money and *Thamaniyyah*.

Thaman, commonly translated as price, is a broad term used to describe any medium of exchange in a sale regardless of what the medium is: currency, assets or a debt¹¹. Every sale contract requires a *Thaman* for

^{11 (}الْمَادَةُ 152) الثَّمَنُ مَا يَكُونُ بَدَلًا لِلْمَبِيعِ وَيَتَعَلَّقُ بِالذِّمَّةِ حَتَّى وَلَوْ أُشِيرَ إِلَى الثَّمَنِ حِينَ الْعَقْدِ وَإِنْ كَانَ نَقْدًا فَلَا يَتَعَلَّقُ بِالْمُبِيعِ وَيَتَعَلَّقُ بِالذِّمَّةِ حَتَّى وَلَوْ أُشِيرَ إِلَى الثَّمَنِ حِينَ الْعَقْدِ وَإِنْ كَانَ نَقْدًا فَلَا يَتَعَلَّقُ بِالْمُبِيعِ وَيَتَعَلَّقُ بِالذِّمَّةِ فِي الْعَقْدِ. لِأَنَّ الثَّمَنَ كَمَا سَيَجِيءُ فِي الْمُادَّةِ (243) لَا يَتَعَيَّنُ بِتَعْيِينِهِ فِي الْعَقْدِ.

لِانَ النَّمَنَ كَمَا سَيَجِي ۚ فِي الْمَادَةِ (243) لَا يَتَعَيَّنَ بِتَغْيِينِهِ فِي الْعَقْدِ. وَالثَّمَنُ: لُغَةً هُوَقِيمَةُ الشَّيْءِ وَهَذَا الْمُعْنَى أَعَمُّ مِنْ مَعْنَاهُ الشَّرْعِيِّ فَنَقْلُ هَذِهِ الْكَلِمَةِ إِلَى الْمُعْنَى الشَّرْعِيِّ هُومِنْ نَقْلِ الْجَامِ إِلَى الْحَامِ إِلَى الْحَامِ إِلَى الْحَامِ الْمُعْنَى الْبَعْنَى أَعْنَاهُ الشَّرْعِيِّ فَنَقْلُ هَذِهِ الْكَلِمَةِ إِلَى الْمُعْنَى الشَّرْعِيِّ هُومِنْ نَقْلِ الْجَامِ إِلَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْبَعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْفَعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُؤْمِلُ اللَّهُ اللَّالُ الَّذِي يَكُونُ عِوضَا عَنْ الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْنَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَ والْمُعْلِى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى



validity¹². However, not every *Thaman* is currency or money. In other words, the trait of *Thamaniyyah* is not in everything used when paying for goods.

Ibn Taymiyyah (d. 728 H) states that the Sharī'ah has not defined any specific condition nor definition for currency and money, and has instead left it to the 'Urf and understanding of the people¹³. Hence, the Hanafī Fuqahā' state that assets or commodities become money and currency by $Ta'\bar{a}mul^{14}$ (usage) and $lstil\bar{a}h$ (common agreement). Imam Ahmad (d.241 H) also opined that currency and money can be identified by the

فَيَدْخُلُ فِيهِ وَهُوَ فِي الْمُغْنَى الْأَوَّلِ الْمُكِيلَاتُ، وَالْمُوْزُونَاتُ، وَالْعَدَدِيَّاتُ الْمُتَقَارِبَةُ وَالنِّقُودُ دُونَ الْأَعْيَانِ لِعَدَمِ اِمْكَانِ تَرَتُّيَا بِالذِّمَّةِ. وَيَدْخُلُ فِيهِ بِمَعْنَاهُ الثَّانِي النُّقُودُ وَالْمُكِيلَاتُ وَالْمُوْزُونَاتُ وَالْأَعْيَانُ غَيْرُ الْمِثْلِيَّةِ كَالْحَيَوَانِ وَالثِّيَابِ (درر الحكام شرح مجلة الأحكام ج 1 ص 123 ط دار الجيل)

كَمَا أَنَّ لَهُ إِذَا كَانَ الثَّمَنُ دَيْنًا كَنْقُودٍ غَيْرِمُعَيَّنَةٍ أَوْمَكِيلَاتٍ أَوْمَوْزُونَاتٍ أَنْ يُمَلِّكَهُ الْمُشْتَرِي بِعِوَضٍ أَوْبِغَيْرِ عِوَضٍ (درر الحكام شرح مجلة الأحكام ج 1 ص 235 ط دار الجيل)

12 (الْمَادَّةُ 237) تَسْمِيَةُ الثَّمَن حِينَ الْبَيْعِ لَازِمَةٌ فَلَوْبَاعَ بِدُونِ تَسْمِيَةٍ ثَمَن كَانَ الْبَيْعُ فَاسِدًا.

يَجِبُ حِينَ الْبَيْعِ ذِكْرُ الثَّمَنِ وَتَسْمِيَتُهُ فَإِذَا كَانَ مَسْكُوتًا عَنْهُ حِينَ الْبَيْعِ فَالْبَيْعُ فَاسِدٌ وَلَيْسَ بِبَاطِلٍ؛ لِأَنَّ الْبَيْعَ الْبُيْعِ الْمُعَاوَضَةَ فَإِذَا سَكَتَ الْبَائِعُ عَنْ الثَّمَنِ كَانَ مَقْصِدُهُ أَخْذَ قِيمَةِ الْمَبِيعِ فَكَأَنَّهُ يَقُولُ بِعْتُ مَالِي بِقِيمَتِهِ وَالإقْتِصَارُ عَلَى ذِكْرِ الْقِيمَةِ مُجْمَلَةً يَجْعَلُ الثَّمَنَ مَجْهُولًا فَيَكُونُ الْبَيْعُ فَاسِدًا لَا بَاطِلًا.

وَيُفْهَمُ مِنْ قَوْلِ الْمُجَلَّةِ فِي هَذِهِ الْمُادَّةِ (إِذَا لَمْ يُذْكَرْثَمَنُ الْمُبِيعِ) أَنَّهُ إِذَا بِيعَ الْمُالُ وَنُفِيَ الثَّمَنُ حَقِيقَةً أَوْ حُكْمًا فَالْبَيْعُ بَاطِلٌ حَقَى إِنَّ قَبْضَ الْمَبِيعِ لَا يُفِيدُ الْمُشْتَرِيَ الْمِلْكِيَّةَ؛ لِأَنَّ نَفْيَ الثَّمَنِ نَفْيٌ لِرُكُنٍ مِنْ أَرْكَانِ الْبَيْعِ وَهُوَ الْمَالُ فَلَا تَكُونُ مِثْلُ هَذِهِ الْمُعَامَلَةِ بَيْعًا (الدُّرَدُ) (درر الحكام شرح مجلة الأحكام ج 1 ص 217 ط دارالجيل)

13 وَأَمَّا الدِّرْهَمُ وَالدِّينَارُ فَمَا يُعْرَفُ لَهُ حَدُّ طَبُعِيٌّ وَلَا شَرْعِيٌّ بَلْ مَرْجِعُهُ إِلَى الْعَادَةِ وَالِاصْطِلَاحِ؛ وَذَلِكَ لِأَنَّهُ فِي الْأَصْلِ لَا يَتَعَلَّقُ الْمُقْصُودُ بِهِ؛ بَلْ الْغَرَضُ أَنْ الْمُقْصُودَ يَكُونَ مِعْيَارًا لِمَا يَتَعَامَلُونَ بِهِ وَالدَّرَاهِمُ وَالدَّنَايِرُلَا تُقْصَدُ لِنَفْسِهَا بَلْ هِيَ وَسِيلَةٌ إِلَى التَّعَامُلِ بِهَا وَلِهَذَا كَانَتْ أَثْمَانًا؛ بِخِلَافِ سَائِرِ الْأَمُورِ الطَّبْعِيَّةِ أَوْ الشَّرْعِيَّةِ وَالْوَسِيلَةُ الْمُحْضَةُ الَّي لَا يَتَعَلَّقُ بِهَا غَرَضٌ لَا بِمَادَّجَا وَلَا بِصُورَجَّا يَحْصُلُ بِهَا الْمُقْصُودُ لِالْمَالِقُ فَهِد) كَذَا عَلَى الْعَلْمُ فَهِد الْكَلْفُورِ الطَّبْعِيَّةِ وَالْوَسِيلَةُ الْمُحْضَةُ الَّتِي لَا يَتَعَلَّقُ بِهَا غَرَضٌ لَا بِمَادَّجَا وَلَا بِصُورَجَهَا يَحْصُلُ بِهَا الْمُقْصُودُ كَانَتْ. (مجموع الفتاوى ج 19 ص 252 ط مجمع الملك فهد)

¹⁴ وَأَمَّا التِّبُرُفَهَلْ يَصْلُحُ رَأْسَ مَالِ الشَّرِكَةِ؟ ذُكِرَفِي كِتَابِ الشَّرِكَةِ وَجَعَلَهُ كَالْعُرُوضِ وَفِي كِتَابِ الصَّرْفِ جَعَلَهُ كَالْغُرُونِ وَفِي كِتَابِ الشَّرِكَةِ وَجَعَلَهُ كَالْعُرُوضِ وَفِي كِتَابِ الصَّرْفِ جَعَلَهُ كَالْعُرُونِ وَلَى كَانُوا يَتَعَامَلُونَ بِهِ فَحُكْمُهُ حُكْمُ الْأَثْمَانِ الْمُطْلَقَةِ، فَتَجُوزُ الشَّرِكَةُ بِهَا وَإِنْ كَانُوا لَا يَتَعَامَلُونَ بِهَا فَحُكْمُهَا حُكْمُ الْعُرُوضِ، وَلَا تَجُوزُ فِيهَا الشَّرِكَةُ. (بدائع الصنائع ج 6 ص 59 ط دار الكتب)

وَأَمَّا التِّبُرُوهُوَ مَا كَانَ غَيْرَمَضْرُوبٍ مِنْ الذَّهَبِ وَالْفِضَّةِ فَجَعَلَهُ فِي شِرْكَةِ الْأَصْلِ وَالْجَامِعِ الصَّغِيرِبِمَنْزِلَةِ الْعُرُوضِ فَلَمْ يَصْلُحُ رَأْسَ مَالِ الشِّرْكَةِ وَالْمُضَارَبَةَ وَجَعَلَهُ فِي شِرْكَةِ الْأَصْلِ وَالْجَلَقَةِ وَالْأَوْلُ هُوَظَاهِرُ الْمُدْهَبِ وَوَجْهُهُ أَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ تَخْتَصُّ بِضَرْبٍ مَخْصُوصٍ لِأَنَّهُ بَعْدَ الضَّرْبِ لَا يُصْرَفُ إِلَى شَيْءٍ آخَرَغَالِبًا وَالْمُعْتَبُرُهُو الْعُرْفُ فَكُلُّ مَوْضِعٍ جَرَى التَّعَامُلُ بِهِ فَهُوَ ثَمَنٌ وَإِلَّا فَحُكْمُهُ كَحُكْمِ الْعُرُوضِ فِي حُكْمِ التَّعْيِينِ وَعَدَمٍ جَوَاذِ الشِّرْكَةِ وَالْمُضَارَبَةِ بِهِ. (تبيين الحقائق ج 3 ص 317 ط إمدادية)

قَالُوا الْمُعْتَبَرُ فِيهِ الْعُرْفُ فَفِي كُلِّ بَلْدَةٍ جَرَى التَّعَامُلُ بِالْمُبَايَعَةِ بِالتِّبْرِ فَهُوَ كَالنُّقُودِ لَا يَتَعَيَّنُ بِالْعُقُودِ وَتَصِحُّ الشَّرِكَةُ بِهِ وَنُزَّلَ التَّعَامُلُ بِا شَبُوعَالُهِ ثَمَنًا بِمَنْزِلَةٍ الضَّرْبِ الْمُخْصُوصِ وَفِي كُلِّ بَلْدَةٍ لَمْ يَجْرِ التَّعَامُلُ بِهِ فَهُوَ كَالْعُرُوضِ يَتَعَيَّنُ فِي الْعُقُودِ وَلَا يَضِحُّ بِهِ الشَّرِكَةُ كَذَا فِي الْكَافِي (درر الحكام ج 2 ص 321)



agreement of the people¹⁵. When something becomes currency or money in Shariah, the rulings of Zakat, currency exchange, $Rib\bar{a}$ and other such rulings apply to the currency.

The legal consequences of being *Thaman* (price)¹⁶:

- 1) When transacting, the *Thaman* (price) becomes a debt upon the buyer.
- 2) It is not necessary to own the monetary amount and price (*Thaman*) at the time of transaction.
- 3) A transaction is not nullified with the non-delivery of the *Thaman*.
- 4) Thaman can be re-negotiated after a transaction except in a sarf and Salam contract.

Characteristics of Thaman:

- 1) Benefit from *Thaman* is derived by spending. It serves no other purpose whilst in one's ownership¹⁷
- 2) Thaman is used as a standard for pricing¹⁸
- 3) Thaman is used as a medium of exchange to acquire assets with intrinsic value¹⁹

2.5 The Concept of Ta'āmul and Iṣṭīlāḥ for Establishing Currency

 $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ refers to common usage. Istilah refers to mutual concurrence. The term $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ is synonymous to 'Urf and ' $\bar{A}dah^{20}$. $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ is established when the usage of something becomes dominant and becomes the standard²¹ in affairs and dealings.

^{15 ۖ} فَقَالَ: إِذَا كَانَ شَيْئًا اصْطْلَحُوا عَلَيْهِ مِثْلَ الْفُلُوسِ، اصْطْلَحُوا عَلَيْهَا، فَأَرْجُو أَلّا يَكُونَ بِهَا بَأْسٌ. (المغني ج 4 ص 40 ط مكتبة القاهرة)

¹⁶ وَالنُّقُودُ لَا تُسْتَحَقُّ بِالْعَقْدِ إِلَّا دَيْنًا فِي الذِّمَّةِ فَكَانَتْ ثَمَنًا بِكُلِّ حَالٍ، وَالْعُرُوضُ لَا تُسْتَحَقُّ بِالْعَقْدِ إِلَّا عَيْنًا فَكَانَتْ مَبِيعَةً، وَالْمَوْرُونُ غَيْرُ النَّقْدُيْنِ يُسْتَحَقُّ بِالْعَقْدِ عَيْنًا تَارَةً وَدَيْنًا أُخْرَى فَكَانَ ثَمَنًا فِي حَالٍ مَبِيعًا فِي حَالٍ وَمِنْ حُكْمِ الثَّمَنِ أَنْ لَا يُشْتَرَطَ وُجُودُهُ فِي مِلْكِ الْعَاقِدِ عِنْدَ الْعَقْدِ وَلَا يَبْطُلُ الْعَقْدُ بِفَوَاتِ تَسْلِيمِهِ وَبَصِحُّ الِاسْتِبْدَالُ بِهِ فِي غَيْرِ الصَّرْفِ، وَالسَّلَم (تبيين الحقائق ج 4 ص 145 ط إمدادية)

¹⁷ وَقَوْلُهُ (كُلُّ مَا يُمْكِنُ الِانْتِفَاعُ بِهِ مَعَ بَقَاءِ أَصْلِهِ) احْتِرَازٌعَنْ الدَّرَاهِمِ وَالدَّنَانِيرِ، فَإِنَّ الِانْتِفَاعَ الَّذِي خُلِقَتْ الدَّرَاهِمُ وَالدَّنَانِيرُ، فَإِنَّ الِانْتِفَاعَ الَّذِي خُلِقَتْ الدَّرَاهِمُ وَالدَّنَانِيرُ الْخُلِهِ) احْتِرَازُعَنْ الدَّرَاهِمِ وَالدَّنَانِيرِ، فَإِنَّ الِانْتِفَاعَ اللَّمَاكِنُ بهمَا مَعَ بَقَاءِ أَصْلِهِ في مِلْكِهِ. (العناية ج 6 ص 218 دارالفكر)

¹⁸ وقال الأترازي: المراد بالأثمان المطلقة الدراهم والدنانير؛ لأنهما أثمان بكل حال؛ لأن الله تعالى خلق الذهب والفضة ثمنا للأشياء، والمعنى بالثمينة كونه بحال يقدربه مالية الأشياء، وبتوصل به إلها ومما بهذه الصفة قبل الصياغة وبعدها(البناية ج 8 ص 15 ط دارالفكر)

¹⁹ والمعنى بالثمينة كونه بحال يقدربه مالية الأشياء، ويتوصل به إليها ومما بهذه الصفة قبل الصياغة وبعدها، (البناية ج 8 ص 15 ط دار الفكر)

أصول الإفتاء وآدابه للمفتي محمد تقي العثماني ص 254 ط مكتبة معارف الفرآن أصول الإفتاء وآدابه للمفتي محمد المثاني العثماني المؤلفة الم

²¹ إنَّمَا تُعْتَبَرُ الْعَادَةُ إِذَا اطَّرَدَتْ أَوْ غَلَبَتْ (الأشباه والنظائرج 1 ص 271)

والمراد من كونها عامة أن تكون مطردة أو غالبة في جميع البلدان ومن كونها خاصة أن تكون كذلك في بعضها فالاطراد والغلبة شرط لاعتبارها سواء كانت عامة أو خاصة (شرح القواعد الفقهية)

ن يكون العرف مطرداً أو غالباً، في ((كتب الأشباه)): ((إنما تعتبر العادة إذا اطردت أو غلبت))(2). والغلبة والاطراد إنما يعتبران إذا وجدا عند أهل العرف من البلاد أو الطوائف، أما الشهرة في كتب الفقه فلا عبرة بها،



Iṣṭilāḥ (mutual concurrence) is a similar concept to Ta'āmul. Imam Abū Ḥanīfah (d.150 H) and Imam Abū Yūsuf (d.182 H) were of the opinion that a commodity can be considered as money upon the agreement of only the two transacting parties. Whereas, Imam Muhammad (d.189 H) viewed that for commodities to be considered currency and money, general and widespread Iṣṭilāḥ is required for commodities to be money and currency²². Thus, according to Imam Muhammad (d.189 H), only when commodity has public acceptance will it be regarded as money²³. Mufti Muhammad Taqi Uthmani states that the preponderant position is that of Imam Muhammad. Thus, Iṣṭīlāḥ can only be activated and deactivated by the public and not by the transacting parties alone²⁴.

ومن الشروط أيضاً أن تكون العادة مطردة أو غالبة، وذلك بأن يكون العمل بها مستمراً في جميع الحوادث أو أغلبها. وأن تكون العادة كذلك موجودة عند إنشاء التصرف سواء سابقة عليه أو مقارنة له وإلا فلا تعتبر. ثم ألا تعارض العادة شرطاً للعاقدين أو أحدهما بعدم العمل بها، فإذا تحققت هذه الشروط في العرف أو العادة كان صحيحاً يعمل به ويعتمد عليه في بناء الأحكام، وأما إذا لم تتوفر الشروط أو أحدها كان العرف فاسداً أو باطلاً. (المدخل إلى الفقه الإسلامي وأصوله ص 271)

²² قَالَ (وَيَجُوزُ بَيْعُ الْفَلْسِ بِالْفَلْسَيْنِ بِأَعْيَاضِمَا) عِنْدَ أَبِي حَنِيفَةَ وَأَبِي يُوسُفَ، وَقَالَ مُحَمَّدٌ: لَا يَجُوزُ لِأَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ تَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْكُلِّ فَلَا تَبْطُلُ بِاصْطِلَاحِهِمَا، وَإِذَا بَقِيَتْ أَثْمَانًا لَا تَتَعَيَّنُ فَصَارَكُمَا إِذَا كَانَا بِغَيْرِ أَعْيَاضِمَا وَكَبَيْعِ الدِّرْهَمِ بِالدِّرْهَمَ بِالدِّرْهَمَ أَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ فِي حَقِّهِمَا تَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِهِمَا وَإِذَا بَطَلَتْ الثَّمَنِيَّةُ تَتَعَيَّنُ بالتَّعْيينِ وَلَا يَعُودُ وَذْنِيًّا لِبَقَاءِ الإصْطِلَاحِ عَلَى الْعَدِّ (الهداية)

²³ وَقَالَ مُحَمَّدٌ - رَحِمَهُ اللَّهُ -: لَا يَجُوزُ؛ لِأَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ فِي الْفَلْسِ تَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْكُلِّ، وَمَا يَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْكُلِّ، وَمَا يَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْكُلِّ، وَمَا يَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْكُلِّ، وَمَا يَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْكُلِّ، وَمَا يَثْبُقُ وَبَيْنَ مَا إِذَا كَانَا بِغَيْرٍ أَعْيَانِهِمَا وَصَارَكَبَيْعِ الدِّرْهَمِ بِالدِّرْهَمَيْنِ.

وَيَهَذَا يَتَبَيَّنُ أَنَّ الْفُلُوسَ الرَّائِجَةَ مَا دَامَتْ رَائِجَةً لَا تَتَعَيَّنُ بِالتَّعْيِينِ حَتَّى لَوْ قُوبِلَتْ بِخِلَافِ جِنْسِهَا كُمَا إِذَا اشْتَرَى ثَوْبًا بِفُلُوسٍ مُعَيَّنَةٍ فَهَلَكَتْ قَبْلَ التَّسْلِيمِ لَمْ يَبْطُلُ الْعَقْدُ كَالذَّهَبِ وَالْفِضَّةِ (وَلَهُمَا أَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ فِي حَقِّهِمَا تَثْبُتُ بِاصْطِلَاحِهِمَا إِذْ لَا وِلَايَةَ لِغَيْرِهِمَا عَلَيْهِمَا) وَمَا ثَبَتَ بِاصْطِلَاحِهِمَا فِي حَقِّهِمَا يَبْطُلُ باصْطلَاحِهمَا كَذَلكَ.

وَاعْتُرِضَ عَلَيْهِ بِأَثَّهَا إِذَا كَسَدَتْ بِاتِّفَاقِ الْكُلِّ لَا تَكُونُ ثَمَنًا بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْمُتَّعَاقِدَيْنِ فَيَجِبُ أَنْ لَا تَكُونَ عُرُوضًا أَيْضًا بِاصْطِلَاحِ الْمُتَّعَاقِدَيْنِ فَيَجِبُ أَنْ لَا تَكُونَ عُرُوضًا، فَاصْطِلَاحُهُمَا عَلَى الثَّمَنِيَّةِ بَعْدَ الْكَسَادِ عَلَى خِلَافِ الْأَصْلِ، فَلَا يَجُوزُ أَنْ تَكُونَ ثَمَنًا بِاصْطِلَاحِهِمَا لِوْقُوعِهِ عَلَى خِلَافِ الْأَصْلِ.

وَأَمَّا إِذَا اصْطَلَحَا عَلَى كَوْيُهِمَا عُرُوضًا كَانَ ذَلِكَ عَلَى وِفَاقِ الْأَصْلِ فَكَانَ جَائِزًا وَإِنْ كَانَ مَنْ سِوَاهُمَا مُتَّفِقِينَ عَلَى الثَّمَنِيَّةِ، وَفِيهِ نَظَرٌ؛ لِأَنَّهُ يُنَافِي قَوْلَهُ إِنَّ لَا وَلَايَةَ لِلْغَيْرِ عَلَيْمِمَا. وَيُمكِنُ أَنْ يُقَالَ: مَعْنَاهُ أَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ فَي حَقِهِمَا تَثْبُثُ بِاصْطِلَاحِهِمَا إِذْ لَا وِلَايَةَ لِلْغَيْرِ عَلَيْهِمَا. وَيُمكِنُ أَنْ يُقَالَ: مَعْنَاهُ أَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّة فَي عَوْدِهَا عُرُوضًا تَتَعَيَّنُ بِالتَّعْيِينِ. فَإِنْ قِيلَ: إِذَا عَادَتْ عَرْضًا عَادَتْ وَذْنِيَّة فَكَانَ بَيْعَ فَلْسٍ بِفَلْسَيْنِ وَمِنْ بَعْ فِلْعَوْدُهَا عُرُوضًا تَتَعَيَّنُ بِالثَّعْيِينِ. فَإِنْ قِيلَ: إِلْأَيْهُمَا بِالْإِقْدَامِ عَلَى هَذَا الْعَقْدِ وَمُقَابَلَةِ الْوَاحِدِ بِالاثْنَيْنِ وَمِنْ النَّعْذِيقِة دُونَ الْعَدِّ حَيْثُ لَمْ يَرْجِعًا إِلَى الْوَزْنِ وَلَمْ يَكُنْ الْعَدُّ مَلْرُومَ الثَّمَنِيَّةِ حَتَّى يَنْتَفِي بِانْتِفَاعُهَا فَبَقِي مَعْدُودًا، وَاسْتَدَلَّ عَلَى بَقَاءِ الْعَرْضَا عَنْ الْعَدِّ بِقَوْلِهِ إِذْ فِي نَقْضِهِ: يَعْنِي الْإِصْطِلَاحَ فِي حَقِّ الْعَدِّ فَشَادَ الْعَقْدِ، وَفِيهِ نَظَرٌ؛ لِأَنَّهُ مُدَّعَى الْغَيْعِ وَلُولُهُ إِلَى الْوَرْنِ وَلَمْ يَكُنْ الْعَدِّ فَسَادَ الْعَقْدِ، وَفِيهِ نَظَرٌ؛ لِأَنَّهُ مُدَّعِ وَلَوْ ضُمَّ إِلَى ذَلِكَ وَالْأَصْلُ حَمْلُهُ عَلَى الْمَعْدِ عِلَيْ الْوَرْنِ وَلَمْ يَكُنْ الْعَدِّ فَلَا الْعَقْدِ، وَفِيهِ نَظَرٌ؛ لِأَنَّهُ مُدَّعَى الْخَصْمِ وَلَوْضُمَّ إِلَى الْوَرْنِ وَلَمْ عَلَى الْمُعْرِقِيَّاتِهِ مَا لَعَيْنُ الْمُعْمُ وَلَا الْعَلْقِي عَلَى الْعَلَامُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلْقِ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلْمِ إِلْمُ عَلَى الْمُعْلَى الْمُعْلَى الْعَلْولُ الْمُعْلَى الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلُ مَمْنُوعٌ وَالثَّانِي لَا يُفِيدُ (العناية ج 7 ص 21 ط دارالفكر)



Besides Dinar and Dirham, other assets which became a currency without the intervention of a state did so upon $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ and $Istil\bar{a}h^{25}$. In historical times, assets and raw metals were commonly used in daily chores and affairs. Therefore, assets and raw metals which served other purposes in daily life would not be regarded as money until $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ (usage as money) transpired²⁶. $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ and $Istil\bar{a}h$ were the indicators of something transforming from $UT\bar{u}d$ (assets) to Thaman (money). $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ is a natural process which takes time to establish. A habit is formed after an industry, area or market deal with something as money over a given period of time, establishing a $Ta'\bar{a}mul$. Some of the apparent indicators of $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ are:

- The zāhir and apparent understanding of such assets is that it is money.
- People regard them as money extemporaneously.
- The first description or definition that comes to mind of such assets is of money.
- Thamaniyyah becomes their second nature and innate trait.
- The obvious form of payment becomes these assets.

However, money which was coined and released by the government, was money from its inception. A natural process of $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ was not required as people regarded that asset as money upon circulation²⁷. The government establish $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ and 'Urf by legislation. Thus, Mufti Taqi Uthmani indicates that an 'Urf can be established with legislation²⁸. Minted coins served no other purpose but as a medium of exchange from inception due to the 'Urf being implemented and imposed by the government. In such an instance, the natural process of $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ and forming a habit is fast tracked by legislation.

Assets which become money and are given the quality of *Thamaniyyah* upon *Ta'āmul* can also be deactivated as money once they are withdrawn or no longer used as money²⁹. The *Thamaniyyah* being removed from such items reverts them back to assets and raw metals³⁰. This can be understood in commodity money which continue to serve their primary function upon being withdrawn and out of circulation.

²⁵ وَجْهُ الْأَوَّلِ وَهُوَ ظَاهِرُ الْمُذْهَبِ أَنَّ الثَّمَنِيَّةَ تَخْتَصُّ بِالضَّرْبِ الْمُخْصُوصِ لِأَنَّهُ عِنْدَ ذَلِكَ لَا يُصْرَفُ إِلَى شَيْءٍ آخَرَ ظَاهِرًا إِلَّا أَنْ يَجْرِيَ التَّعَامُلُ بِاسْتِعْمَالِهَا ثَمَنًا فَيَنْزِلُ التَّعَامُلُ بِمَنْزِلَةِ الضَّرْبِ فَيَكُونُ ثَمَنًا وَيَصِلُحُ رَأْسُ الْمَالِ.(مجمع الأنهرج 1 ص 720 المعرفة)

²⁶ وَتَحْقِيفُهُ أَنَّ صِفَةَ الثَّمَنِيَّةِ فِي الْفُلُوسِ لَيْسَتْ بِصِفَةٍ لَازِمَةٍ وَلَا هُوَ ثَابِتٌ بِأَصْلِ الْخِلْقَةِ بَلْ يُعَارِضُ اصْطِلَاحَ النَّاسِ (المبسوط ج 12 ص 183 ط المعرفة) ²⁷ وَجُهُ الْأَوَّلِ وَهُوَ ظَاهِرُ الْمُذْهَبِ أَنَّ <u>الثَّمَنيَّةَ تَخْتَصُّ بِالضَّرْبِ الْمُخْصُوصِ لأَنَّهُ عِنْدَ ذَلِكَ لَا يُصْرَفُ إِلَى شَيْءِ آخَرَ ظَاهِرًا .(مجمع الأنهر ج 1 ص 720 المعرفة) ²⁸ فقه البيوع ج 1 ص 401 مكتبة معارف القرآن</u>

 $^{^{29}}$ وَإِذَا بَطَلَتْ الثَّمَنيَةُ فَلِعَوْدِهَا عُرُوضًا تَتَعَيَّنُ بِالتَّعْيِينِ. (العناية ج 7 ص 21 ط دار الفكر)

^{30 (}وَلَا يَتَعَيَّنُ بِالتَّعْيِينِ لِكَوْنِهِ أَثْمَانًا) يُعْنِي مَا دَامَتْ تَرُوجُ؛ لِأَنَّهَا بِالِاصْطِلَاحِ صَارَتْ أَثْمَانًا فَمَا دَامَ ذَلِكَ الِاصْطِلَاحُ مَوْدُا لَا تَبْطُلُ الثَّمَنِيَّةُ لِقِيَامِ الْمُقْتَضِي لِلتَّمَنِيَّةِ، وَهُوَ الإصْطِلَاحُ، وَهَذَا؛ لِأَنَّهَا فِي الْأَصْلِ هِيَ سِلْعَةٌ، وَإِنَّمَا صَارَتْ أَثْمَانًا بِالإصْطِلَاحِ فَإِذَا تَرُوجُ؛ لِأَنَّهَا فِي اللَّمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ إِللَّامُ عَلَيْحِ فَإِذَا عَلَيْهِ الْعَلَيْمِ وَهُوَ الإصْطِلَاحُ، وَهَذَا؛ لِأَنَّهَا فِي الْأَصْلِ هِيَ سِلْعَةٌ، وَإِنَّمَا صَارَتْ أَثْمَانًا بِالإصْطِلَاحِ فَإِذَا تَرَكُوا الْمُعَامِّلَةِ عَلَيْهِ الْعَلَيْمِ الْعَلَيْمِ الْعَلَيْمِ فَلَامِ الْعَلَيْمِ فَإِنْ الْمُقْتَضِي لِللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمِ فَلَامُ اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمِ وَالْمَالَاعُ اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمِ إِلَيْكُولُوا اللَّهُ الْمَالَةُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقِ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقِ اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمِ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلِلِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمِ إِنْ كَانَتُ اللَّهُ اللَّمُ اللَّهُ الْمُلْكِاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُولِي اللَّهُ الْعَلَيْمُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللْمُؤْلِقُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّالَالِي الْمُؤْلِقُولُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّذَالَالَّالِمُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّالَالَةُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالَةُ اللَّالِمُ اللْمُولُولُولُو



The *Thamaniyyah* (monetary element) in Dinar and Dirham can never be deactivated or removed, as that is intrinsically and innately instilled in these precious metals by Allah³¹.

2.6 Money in Conventional Economics and Finance

To complement the understanding of money, the following discussion gives a very brief and cursory view of money in conventional economics and finance.

Secular jurists and economists may differ in the specifics of money as they are concerned with different aspects of money. Thus, Ludwig von Mises in The Theory of Money & Credit highlights the different objectives of jurists and economists³². He states that jurists seek the definition of money to determine how monetary liabilities can be discharged, as money is a medium of payment to a jurist. He argues that economists may not adopt this point of view as their concern is the advancement of economic theory.

Mankiw states,

"Money is the set of assets in the economy that people regularly use to buy goods and services from other people."³³

McEachern (2012) states,

"Any commodity that acquires a high degree of acceptability throughout an economy becomes money." 34

Groth (2012) mentions,

"In economics money is defined as an asset (a store of value) which functions as a generally accepted medium of exchange, i.e., it can in principle be used directly to buy any good. A note of IOU (a bill of exchange) may also be a medium of exchange, but it is not generally accepted and is therefore not money. Generally accepted mediums

³¹ قَالَ: (وَلَا تَنْعَقِدُ الْمُفَاوَضَةُ وَالْعِنَانُ إِلَّا بِالدَّرَاهِمِ وَالدَّنَانِيرِ وَتَبُرَّيُهِمَا إِنْ جَرَى التَّعَامُلُ بِهِ وَبِالْفُلُوسِ الرَّائِجَةِ)، أَمَّا الدَّرَاهِمُ وَالدَّنَانِيرُ فَلِأَقَّا : لَأَنَّ الدَّهَبَ وَالْفِضَّةَ خُلِقَا ثَمَنُونٍ، وَقِيلَ: لَا يَجُوزُ مُطْلَقًا : لَأَنَّ الدَّهَبَ وَالْفِضَّةَ خُلِقَا ثَمَنُونٍ، وَقِيلَ: لَا يَجُوزُ إِلَّا بِالتَّعَامُلِ وَهُوَ الْأَصَحُ : لأَنَّهُمَا وَإِنْ خُلِقَا لِلثَّمَنِيَّةَ لَكِنْ بِوَصْفِ الضَّرْبِ حَتَّى لَا يَنْصَرِفَ الاسْمُ عِنْدَ الْإِطْلَاقِ إِلَى التَبْرِ، وَإِنَّمَا يَنْصَرِفُ إِلَى النَّعَامُلَ مَجْرَى الضَّرْبِ عَمَلًا عَنْدَ الْإِطْلَاقِ إِلَى التَبْرِ، وَإِنَّمَا يَنْصَرِفُ إِلَى النَّعَامُلَ مَجْرَى الضَّرْبِ عَمَلًا اللَّعَامُلَ مَجْرَى الضَّرْبِ عَمَلًا بِالتَّعَامُلَ مَجْرَى الضَّرْبِ عَمَلًا اللَّعَامُلَ مَجْرَى الضَّرْبِ عَمَلًا اللَّعَامُلَ وَهُو الْأَوْلِ اللَّهَا أَنَّا أَجْرَبُنَا التَّعَامُلَ مَجْرَى الضَّرْبِ عَمَلًا لِللْمُعْفِقِ فَالْحَقْلَاهُ عِمْدُ اللّهَالَ عَلَى اللّهُ عَنْدَ الْإِلْمُلُوقِ إِلَى اللّهَ عَلْمُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الْمَالَاقِ إِلَى اللّهَ عَلْمُ الْمَ عَنْدَ الْكَتَابُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلْمُلُولُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ الل

³² Von Mises, L., The Theory of Money & Credit, Yale University Press

³³ Mankiw, Principles of Economics, 5th edition. South-Western Cengage Learning; 2011.

³⁴ McEachern, W. (2012), Economics A Contemporary Introduction, South-Western, Cengage Learning



of exchange are also called means of payment. So money is characterized by being a fully liquid asset. An asset is fully liquid if it can be used directly, instantly, and without any costs or restrictions to make payments."

Economists tend to define money by the functions that money serves. These functions are³⁵:

- 1) Store of value
- 2) Unit of account
- 3) Medium of exchange
- 4) Standard of deferred payment

1) Store of value

A store of value is an item that people can use to transfer purchasing power from the present to the future. In other words, it is something that is expected to retain its value in a reasonably predictable way over time. Gold or silver that was mined hundreds of years ago would still be valuable today. But perishable food would quickly become worthless as it goes bad. So, gold or silver are good stores of value, but perishable food much less so.

2) Unit of account

A unit of account is the yardstick people use to post prices and record debts. It is the thing that goods and services are priced in terms of, for example on menus, contracts or price labels. In modern economies, the unit of account is usually a currency, for example, the pound in the United Kingdom, but it could be a type of good instead. In the past, items would often be priced in terms of something very common, such as staple foods ('bushels of wheat') or farm animals.

3) Medium of exchange

A medium of exchange is an item that buyers give to sellers when they want to purchase goods and services. A medium of exchange is anything that is readily acceptable as payment. Something that people hold because they plan to swap it for something else, rather than because they want the good itself.

4) Standard of deferred payment

³⁵ Bank of England. (2014). 2014 Q1. Quarterly Bulletin, 54(1).



Money serves as a standard of payment contracted to be made at some future date. It facilitates borrowing and lending activities.

These functions are all closely linked to each other. For example, an asset is less useful as a medium of exchange if it will not be worth as much tomorrow — that is, if it is not a good store of value. Indeed, in several countries where the traditional currency has become a poor store of value due to very high rates of price inflation, or hyperinflation, foreign currencies have come to be used as an alternative medium of exchange. For example, in the five years after the end of the First World War, prices of goods in German marks doubled 38 times — meaning that something that cost one mark in 1918 would have cost over 300 billion marks in 1923. As a result, some people in Germany at the time began to use other currencies to buy and sell things instead. To make sure sterling does not lose its usefulness in exchange, one of the Bank of England's objectives is to safeguard the value of the currency. Although the medium of exchange needs to be a good store of value, there are many good stores of value that are not good media of exchange. Houses, for example, tend to remain valuable over quite long periods of time, but cannot be easily passed around as payment.

The balancing of production and consumption takes place in the market, where the different producers meet to exchange goods and services by bargaining together. The function of money is to facilitate the business of the market by acting as a common medium of exchange.

The Characteristics of Money

Economists have identified six characteristics that allow money to serve its functions, with the most importance being acceptability. The characteristics of money are³⁶:

- 1) Acceptability Money must be widely accepted as a medium of exchange.
- 2) Divisibility Money must be easily divided into small parts so that people can purchase goods and services at any price.
- 3) Portability Money must be easy to carry.
- 4) Scarcity Money must be relatively scarce and hard for people to obtain.

³⁶ Mankiw, Principles of Economics, 5th edition. South-Western Cengage Learning; 2011.

McEachern, W. (2012), Economics A Contemporary Introduction, South-Western, Cengage Learning



- 5) Durability Money must be able to withstand the wear and tear of many people using it.
- 6) Stability/uniformity Money's value must remain relatively constant over long periods of time.

Types of Money

Economists have categorised money in the following types³⁷:

1) Commodity Money

Commodity money are items used as money that also have intrinsic value in some other use. In other words, it can serve as money as well as commodity due its intrinsic value. Gold, silver, salt, animals, shells, grains etc. are forms of commodity money.

2) Fiat Money

Fiat money gets its value from a government order (i.e. fiat). That means, the government declares fiat money to be legal tender, which requires all people and firms within the country to accept it as a means of payment.

Unlike commodity money, fiat money is not backed by any physical commodity. By definition, it does not have intrinsic value. Hence, the value of fiat money is derived from the relationship between supply and demand.

Most of the world's paper money is fiat money.

3) Fiduciary Money

Fiduciary money depends for its value on the confidence that it will be generally accepted as a medium of exchange. Unlike fiat money, it is not declared legal tender by the government, which means people are not required by law to accept it as a means of payment. Instead, the issuer of fiduciary money promises to exchange it back for a commodity or fiat money if requested by the bearer. As long as people are confident that this promise will not be broken, they can use fiduciary money just like regular fiat or commodity money. Examples of fiduciary money include cheques, bank notes, or drafts³⁸.

³⁷ Choron, S. & Choron, H. (2011), Money: Everything You Never Knew About Your Favourite Thing to Save, Spend, and Covet, Chronicle Books; 01 edition

³⁸ https://quickonomics.com/2016/09/different-types-of-money/



4) Electronic Money

This refers to money that is transmitted via the internet, computer networks, or other electronic systems. In an electronic money system, no money actually changes hands, but rather a system of debits and credits is used to make exchanges.

Electronic money, or e-money, is any electronic payment media—any material, device, or system that conducts payment via the transfer of electromagnetically stored information. E-money may be "currency" in that it can be stored in a physical "wallet" like a smart card or token, but it generally exists as account data on some electronic storage device. Credit cards fit under this definition of e-money. Banks already create e-money as part of their normal lending process, when they issue loans by crediting the deposit accounts of the borrowers (or the receiver of the loan proceeds)³⁹.

The FCA define electronic money as:

"Electronic money (e-money) is electronically (including magnetically) stored monetary value." 40

What does Legal Tender Mean?

The Bank of England describes legal tender in the following manner⁴¹:

Legal tender has a very narrow and technical meaning, which relates to settling debts. It means that if you are in debt to someone then you can't be sued for non-payment if you offer full payment of your debts in legal tender. What is classed as legal tender varies throughout the UK. In England and Wales, legal tender is Royal Mint coins and Bank of England notes. In Scotland and Northern Ireland only Royal Mint coins are legal tender. Throughout the UK, there are some restrictions when using the lower value coins as legal tender. For example, 1p and 2p coins only count as legal tender for any amount up to 20p.

There are many acceptable payment methods which aren't technically legal tender. This is why the term 'legal tender' has little use in ordinary everyday transactions. Most shops accept payment by debit or credit card, and

³⁹ Fullenkam, C. & Nsouli, S.M, (2004), 'Six Puzzles in Electronic Money and Banking, IMF Working Paper https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2004/wp0419.pdf

⁴⁰ https://www.fca.org.uk/firms/electronic-money-regulations

⁴¹ http://edu.bankofengland.co.uk/knowledgebank/what-is-legal-tender/



some accept cheques and contactless payments. These are safe and convenient ways to pay, despite not being classed as legal tender.

The same is true for Scottish and Northern Ireland banknotes. Seven banks in Scotland and Northern Ireland are authorised to issue banknotes. These notes make up the majority of banknotes in Scotland and Northern Ireland and legislation is in place to ensure that noteholders have a similar level of protection as they would for Bank of England notes. Despite this, Scottish and Northern Ireland banknotes are not classified as legal tender anywhere in the UK. Equally, Bank of England notes are not legal tender in Scotland and Northern Ireland.

Whether you pay with banknotes, coins, debit cards or anything else as payment is a decision between you and the other person involved in the transaction.

In addition, shops are not obliged to accept legal tender. If you hand over a £50 note to pay for a banana in your local grocery store, the staff are within their rights to choose not to accept it. Likewise for all other banknotes — it's a matter of discretion.

3.0 The Fighi (juristic) Components for Currency

This section analyses the components required for any item or asset to be considered a currency.

3.1 Māl (Wealth)

The primary component for any counter value or consideration is $M\bar{a}l$. An accepted definition of a transaction among Muslim jurists is 'an exchange of $M\bar{a}l$ in consideration of $M\bar{a}l$ ' (al-Marghinani). Any consideration in a commutative contract must be $M\bar{a}l$. If the consideration is not $M\bar{a}l$, the contract is void ($b\bar{a}til$). Therefore, the first fundamental requirement for money is that it must be $M\bar{a}l$. Scholars differ in their understanding of $M\bar{a}l$.

Linguistically, $M\bar{a}l$ in the Arabic language refers to anything which can be acquired and possessed; whether it is corporeal ('ayn) or usufruct (manfa'ah); examples of this include gold, silver, animals, plants and the benefit derived from assets such as living in homes, riding vehicles etc. (Wohidul Islam, 1999). Something which cannot be possessed, cannot be considered as $M\bar{a}l$ linguistically. For example, birds in the sky, fish in the water, trees in forests are not $M\bar{a}l$ in terms of the Arabic language as they are not in any person's possession (al-Zuhayli, 1985).



After the codification of Islamic law by various schools, the term $M\bar{a}l$ was coined to denote different technical meanings and concepts. Thus, jurists from different schools differed in their understanding of $M\bar{a}l$. Wohidul Islam (1999) categorises the definitions of $M\bar{a}l$ into two definitions and understandings: The Hanafi understanding and the majority understanding.

If we consider Wohidul Islam's (1999) categorisation, it becomes clear that even among the Hanafi jurists, different definitions of $M\bar{a}l$ are found. However, when closely examining the definitions, the variance is not due to a difference in the nature of $M\bar{a}l$, but simply due to the different ways of expression (Wohidul Islam, 1999). For example, some of the common definitions are:

- 1) *Māl* is what human instinct inclines too and which is capable of being stored for the time of necessity (Ibn Abidin, n.d.).
- 2) *Māl* is that which has been created for the goodness of human beings. *Māl* brings with it scarcity and stinginess (Uthmani, 2014).
- 3) Māl is that which is normally desired and can be stored up for the time of need"(Majallah, 2012).

According to the Hanafi jurists, $M\bar{a}l$ is "what is normally desired and can be stored up for the time of need". This definition denotes that the two key criteria for defining $M\bar{a}l$ in the Hanafis' view are "desirability" and "storability". The first criterion clearly links $M\bar{a}l$ to its linguistic root mayl, which means inclination or desire. Mufti Taqi Uthmani describes desirability as something which is beneficial. However, Shaykh Salah Abul Hāj states that the condition of desirability excludes undesirable articles of trade such as humans etc. 42

Ibn 'Ābidīn (d.1252 H) presents another definition of $M\bar{a}l$ as "something created for the benefit of man which people hoard and aspire⁴³". Imam al-Lacknawi (d.1304 H) has a similar discussion on $M\bar{a}l^{44}$.

⁽مذكرات في فقه المعاملات ص 12) فبقيد: ما يميل إليه طبع الإنسان؛ خرج لحم الميتة, والإنسان الحر. 42

⁴⁰ لِإِنَّ الْمَالَ مَا يَمِيلُ إِلَيْهِ الطَّبْعُ وَيُدَّخَرُلُوقُّتِ الْحَاجَةِ أَوْمًا خُلِقَ لِمَصَالِحِ الْاَدَمِيّ وَيَجْرِي فِيهِ الشُّخُ وَالضِّنَةُ اه. (منحة الخالق ج 5 ص 277 ط سعيد)
40 والمال لغة: خواسته وايخه درملك كسي باشد. كذا في ((المنتهى الأرب))، وقال صاحب ((البحر))(5: 277) ناقلاً عن ((الكشف)): المال: ما يميل إليه الطبع ويمكن ادخاره لوقت الحاجة، والمالية: إنّما يثبت بتموُّل الناس كافة، أو بتقوُّم البعض، والتقوم: يثبتُ بها وبإباحة الانتفاع به شرعاً فما يكون مباح الانتفاع يدون تموُّل [الناس] لا يكون مالاً كحبة حنطة، وما يكون مالاً بين الناس ولا يكون مباح الانتفاع لا يكون متقوّماً كالخمر، وإذا عدم الأمران لم يثبت واحد منهما كالدم. انتهى. فخرجَ به الميّتة والدم وحبة الحنطة وشعيرة وكف تراب وشربة ماء مما هو ليس مال وبقي الخمر والخنزير وغيرهما مما هو مال لكنّه غير متقوّم للمسلم، اللَّهُمَّ إلاَّ أن يقال المراد بالمال ما هو محلُّ البيع، ومحلُّه مال متقوّم كما هو العرف عند الفقهاء، والعرف يكون قرينة. (عمدة الرعاية ج 5 ص 8 ط دار الكتب)



In terms of storability, Ibn ' \bar{A} bid \bar{I} n (d.1252 H) states that this condition excludes Manfa'ah (usufruct)⁴⁵ as Manfa'ah is Milk (something that comes into your ownership) not $M\bar{a}l$. In other words, $Manfa'\bar{a}h$ is something which comes into one's ownership as a result of trading $M\bar{a}l$ and is the usufruct of the $M\bar{a}l$ and not $M\bar{a}l$ in itself. Thus, in a rental contract, one gets ownership of the Manfa'ah and not the $M\bar{a}l$ (leased item) which is providing the Manfa'ah. Thus, intangibles which can be stored and retrieved are different to Manfa'ah. The former will be $M\bar{a}l$ whilst the latter is not $M\bar{a}l$ according to the Hanafi legal theory.

Storability simply means that something can be retrieved for use later. Thus, thin air, an odour or scent, a passing thought in one's mind are not 'storable'. The jurists put this condition for $M\bar{a}l$ because only storable items can be retrieved and used, and the entire purpose of $M\bar{a}l$ is usage.

Although some Hanafi jurists have stated that $M\bar{a}l$ must be a physical entity, Mufti Taqi Uthmani dispels this argument and states that the Quran and Sunnah have not explicitly defined $M\bar{a}l$, rather, Shariah has left it to the understanding of people. Furthermore, he argues that some Furu' (substantive laws) in the Hanafi school discuss intangibles as $M\bar{a}l$. He thereafter quotes the $Fat\bar{a}w\bar{a}$ of late Hanafi jurists which consider electricity and gas as $M\bar{a}l$ despite being intangible. Thus, intangibles can also be $M\bar{a}l$ on condition they are desirable and retrievable. It is not necessary for intangible $M\bar{a}l$ to remain after using, it may be an intangible which is consumed and depleted upon usage. The condition of perpetuity is not required in physical $M\bar{a}l$ either, hence, food is $M\bar{a}l$ despite being used by consumption.

The Shafi'i jurists have included usufruct in the definition of $M\bar{a}l$. Al-Zarkashi states that, " $M\bar{a}l$ is what gives benefit, i.e. prepared to give benefit", and he continues to say at mal can be material objects or usufructs (al-Zarkashi). al-Suyuti states: "The terminology $M\bar{a}l$ should not be construed except as to what has value with which it is exchangeable; and the destructor of it would be made liable to pay compensation; and what the people would not usually throw away or disown, such as money, and the likes" (Wohidul Islam, 1999).

⁴º وَقَدَّمْنَا أَوَّلَ الْبُيُوعِ تَعْرِيفَ الْمَالِ بِمَا يَمِيلُ إلَيْهِ الطَّبْعُ وَيُمْكِنُ ادِّخَارُهُ لِوَقْتِ الْحَاجَةِ، وَأَنَّهُ خَرَجَ بِالِاِذِخَارِ، الْمُنْفَعَةُ فَهِيَ مِلْكٌ لَا مَالٌ؛ لِأَنَّ الْمِلْكَ مَا فِي التُّرْرِ مِنْ قَوْلِهِ الْمَالُ مَوْجُودٌ يَمِيلُ إلَيْهِ الطَّبْعُ إلَخْ فَإِنَّهُ يَخْرُجُ بِالْمُوْجُودِ الْمُنْفَعَةُ شَالُوبِع، فَالْأَوْلَى مَا فِي الدُّرَرِ مِنْ قَوْلِهِ الْمَالُ مَوْجُودٌ يَمِيلُ إلَيْهِ الطَّبْعُ إلَخْ فَإِنَّهُ بِالْمُؤْمُوبِ الْمُنْفَعَةُ فَالْوَاء إِنَّ الْإِجَارَةَ لَا بَيْع وَهُوَ التَّمْلِيكُ لَا بَيْعٌ حَقِيقَةً، وَلِذَا قَالُوا: إِنَّ الْإِجَارَةَ لَا بَيْعَ النَّامُوبِ عَلَيْكَ لَا بَيْعٌ حَقِيقَةً، وَلِذَا قَالُوا: إِنَّ الْإِجَارَةَ لَا بَيْعَ الْمَنْفَعَةُ ثُمَلًا أَيْ إِنَّ فِهَا حُكْمَ الْبَيْعِ وَهُوَ التَّمْلِيكُ لَا بَيْعٌ حَقِيقَةً، وَلِذَا قَالُوا: إِنَّ الْإِجَارَةَ لَا بَيْعَ حُكْمًا: أَيْ إِنَّ فِهَا حُكْمَ الْبَيْعِ وَهُوَ التَّمْلِيكُ لَا بَيْعٌ حَقِيقَةً، وَلِذَا قَالُوا: إِنَّ الْإِجَارَةَ لَا بَيْعَ حُكُمًا: أَيْ إِنَّ فِهَا حُكْمَ الْبَيْعِ وَهُوَ التَّمْلِيكُ لَا بَيْعُ حَقِيقَةً، وَلِذَا قَالُوا: إِنَّ الْإِجَارَةَ لَا لَيْعَ حُكُمًا: أَيْ إِنَّ فِيهَا حُكْمَ الْبَيْعِ وَهُوَ التَّمْلِيكُ لَا عَلْكُ اللَّهُ مُلِيكً



From among the Hanbali jurists, al-Kharqi states that $M\bar{a}l$ is something in which there exists a lawful benefit (Wohidul Islam, 1999). Al-Buhuti elaborates on this definition and states that something in which there is not benefit in essence, such as insects, or where there is benefit but it is unlawful in Islam, such as wine, cannot be considered as $M\bar{a}l$.

3.2 Taqawwum

Another requirement for $M\bar{a}l$ itself to be exchangeable and tradeable is that it must be Mutaqawwim (possess legal value) for transaction to be legally sound $(sah\bar{h}h)^{46}$. Mutaqawwim refers to an item or subject being lawful to use in Shariah⁴⁷. Therefore, Ali Haydar states that the criteria for any item to be tradeable and exchangeable are:

- 1) Tamawwul
- 2) Taqawwum⁴⁸

Tamawwul refers to anything used as Māl. Taqawwum refers to the item being lawful in Shariah as a result of being considered valuable.

[تَنْبِيهٌ] فِي شَرِّحِ مِسْكِينٍ: ثُمَّ الضَّابِطُ فِي تَمْيِيزِ الْفَاسِدِ مِنْ الْبَاطِلِ أَنَّ أَحَدَ الْعِوَضَيْنِ إِذَا لَمْ يَكُنْ مَالًا فِي دِينٍ سَمَاوِيٌ فَالْبَيْعُ بَاطِلٌ سَوَاءٌ كَانَ فِي بَعْضِ الْأَذْيَانِ مَالًا دُونَ الْبَعْضِ إِنْ أَمْكَنَ اعْتِبَارُهُ ثَمَنًا فَالْبَيْعُ فَاسِدٌ فَبَيْعُ الْعَبْدِ بِالْخَمْرِ أَوْ الْخَمْرِ أَوْ الْخَمْرِ أَوْ الْخَمْرِ أَوْ الْخَمْرِ بَالْخَمْرِ بَاطِلٌ الْمَيْعُ بَاطِلٌ فَبَيْعُ الْخَمْرِ بِالدَّرَاهِمِ أَوْ الدَّرَاهِمِ بِالْخَمْرِ بَاطِلٌ اهـ. قُلْت: وَهَذَا الضَّابِطُ يَرْجِعُ إِلَى الْفَرْقِ بَيْنَهُمَا مِنْ حَيْثُ الْكَرْدِ فَالْبَيْعُ بَاطِلٌ فَبَيْعُ الْخَمْرِ بِالدَّرَاهِمِ أَوْ الدَّرَاهِمِ بِالْخَمْرِ بَاطِلٌ الْمَارِقِ بَيْنَهُمَا مِنْ حَيْثُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْكُونُ وَالْمُحَلُّ فَهُوا عَمُ فَافْهَمْ. (حاشية ابن عابدين ج 5 ص 50 طسعيد)

⁴⁶ وَيُشْتَرَطُ أَيْضًا لِعَدَمِ فَسَادِ الْبَيْعِ أَنْ يَكُونَ الثَّمَنُ مَالَّا مُتَقَوِّمًا وَهَذَا الشَّرْطُ لَيْسَ مِنْ شُرُوطِ انْعِقَادِ الْبَيْعِ فَشِرَاءُ مَالٍ بِثَمَنٍ غَيْرِ مُتَقَوِّمٍ مُفْسِدٌ لِلْبَيْعِ (رَدُّ الْمُحْتَارِ) (أَنْظُرْ الْمَادَةَ 212) (درر الحكام شرح مجلة الأحكام ج 1 ص 177 ط دار الجيل)

⁴⁸ الثاني: المتقوم:ما يباح الانتفاع به شرعاً.

فيشترط في المال المتقوم أمران:

أن يكون متمولاً، فما يكون مباح الانتفاع بدون تموّل الناس لا يكون مالاً كحبّة حنطة.

أن يكون مباح الانتفاع، فما يكون مالاً بين الناس ولا يكون مباح الانتفاع لا يكون متقوماً كالخمر.

وما عدم فيه الأمران لم يكن مالاً ولا متقوماً، مثل: الدم

وحاصله أن المال أعمّ من المتقوّم; لأن المال ما يمكن ادخاره ولو غير مباح كالخمر, والمال المتقوّم ما يمكن ادخاره مع الإباحة, فالخمر مال لا متقوّم, فلذا فسد البيع بجعلها ثمناً, وإنما لم ينعقد أصلاً بجعلها مبيعاً; لأن الثمن غير مقصود، بل وسيلة إلى المقصود؛ إذ الانتفاع بالأعيان لا بالأثمان؛ ولهذا اشترط وجود المبيع دون الثمن, فهذا الاعتبار صار الثمن من جملة الشروط؛ لأن البيع وإن كان مبناه على البدلين لكن الأصل فيه المبيع دون الثمن ونفسخ بهلاك المبيع دون الثمن (مذكرات في فقه المعاملات ص 12)



3.3 Thamaniyyah

Thamaniyyah refers to money having two critical functions⁴⁹:

- 1) Independent standard of value
- 2) Unit of account

The first function of *Thamaniyyah* is to enable money to independently price and valuate goods. The currency is not valued against something else in its market of operation. The entire objective of currency and money is to be a means to facilitate transactions with ease without having to refer to any other benchmark or index. It is a common and widespread reference of value which does not require a further benchmark to understand its operational worth in a market or industry. If money constantly required benchmarking in a local and domestic market, this would undermine the entire function of currency.

In addition, for something to be an independent standard of value, it necessitates that it has stability and widespread acceptance. Money is an entire system and *Intizām*. The system of money has been established to bring stability in our worldly life and to be of benefit to man. It is a standard and measure for value. Hence, in ancient times, money was weighed in a scale, reflecting the very essence of money – a means to balance and bring order in the world. Thus, Allah states:

"Do not entrust your wealth to the feeble-minded, which Allah has made to maintain you" (Quran 4:5)

Therefore, if money does not have stability and is plagued with gross uncertainty and severe volatility, it loses its primary role and function. Something unstable cannot bring stability to others.

The second function of *Thamaniyyah* is to be a unit of account. This refers to being a primary reference point and yardstick for people to use to post prices and record debts. It is the thing that goods and services are priced in.

⁴⁹ لأن الثمنية تعني أمرين: أن يكون أصلاً قائمًا بنفسه، ومقصودا لذاته، وأن يكون معيارا لقيم الأشياء، كالذهب والفضة والأوراق النقدية،(المُعَامَلَاتُ المَّالِيَّةُ أَصَالَة وَمُعَاصَرَة ج 13 ص 255 مكتبة الملك فهد الوطنية)



As discussed previously, the characteristic of *Thamaniyyah* singles out currency from all other assets. An asset which has *Thamaniyyah* will be currency. *Thamaniyyah* (monetary value) is the key element in an asset which qualifies it to serve as currency and money.

It is these three features in currency which define money in Islamic law. These three features are similar to what conventional economists define as the functions of money.

4.0 Analysis of Bitcoin

4.1 Defining Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies are also known as virtual currencies and at times, as digital currencies.

Allen & Overy define virtual currencies as:

"A virtual currency is a digital representation of value that can be digitally traded and functions as a medium of exchange, a unit of account and/or a store of value, but does not have legal tender status in any jurisdiction. It is not issued or guaranteed by any government, and fulfils these functions only by agreement within the community of users of the virtual currency. It is distinct from fiat currency or "real currency", which is the physical money that makes up a country's legal tender, and distinct from e-money, which is a digital representation of fiat currency."⁵⁰

The European Central Bank describes virtual currencies as:

Virtual currencies are defined by as a digital representation of value that is neither issued by a central bank or public authority nor necessarily attached to fiat currencies, but is used as a means of exchange and can be transferred, stored or traded electronically. In contrast to fiat currencies, virtual currencies are not legal tender but are nevertheless accepted by members within a virtual community as a medium of exchange and as a unit of account. Virtual currencies must also be distinguished from electronic money such as PayPal or Ven. In electronic money schemes the link between the electronic money and fiat currency is guaranteed through some legal foundation and funds are shown in the same unit of account (U.S. dollar, Euro, etc.). Virtual currency

⁵⁰ Allen & Overy (2015), 'Virtual Currencies Mining the possibilities' (available at: http://www.allenovery.com/SiteCollectionDocuments/Virtual%20Currencies.pdf)



schemes create an independent unit of account, which only exists in a digital form (Bitcoin, Litecoin, Ripple, etc.), which can be used as an alternative to fiat currency, or may be converted to fiat currency⁵¹. At the current moment⁵², cryptocurrencies are not backed up by a government nor a central bank.

4.2 Literature on Bitcoin

Academic literature on Bitcoin and cryptocurrencies is limited in relation to other areas in the economics and finance industry. This is primarily due to Bitcoin being a new phenomenon which is still in its first decade.

Despite extensive exploration, academic papers addressing the research question of this paper could not be located. This shows the need to research this question and demonstrates how this research will add to the body of knowledge. Therefore, this literature review covers literature which enhances understanding of Bitcoin and assists in developing the underlying arguments in the research.

Nakamoto (2008) – the pseudonym of the supposed inventor of blockchain technology and bitcoin - was the first to author a paper on Bitcoin. This paper's most important contribution was the introduction of blockchain technology to the world - the underpinning technology of Bitcoin. This paper demonstrates the benefit of the blockchain in eliminating inefficiencies in existing financial markets resulting in faster, lower-cost transactions as well as increased liquidity, transparency and security. However, this paper falls short of discussing the monetary nature of Bitcoin and rather focuses on the technology behind Bitcoin. Furthermore, as Nakamoto invented blockchain and bitcoin, his paper cannot be free from bias. Baur et al. (2015) attempted to address the question of whether Bitcoin is a currency or an asset from a conventional perspective. The paper presented analysis of transaction data of Bitcoin accounts to show that Bitcoins are mainly used as a speculative investment and not as an alternative currency or medium of exchange. Although this paper asserts that Bitcoin can be used as a medium of exchange, it does not address the nature of Bitcoin, rather, the focus is purely on the current usage of Bitcoin. Interestingly, they concluded that Bitcoin is neither precious commodities with intrinsic value nor fiat currency backed by a monetary authority, rather, they are hybrids of commodity and fiat currency. This hybrid idea is a new concept they proposed with their research. What they mean by a hybrid is that Bitcoin plays a dual role of commodity as well as currency. Whilst these papers fail to address the currency element in Bitcoin, the paper by Barber et al. (2012) attempted to address how Bitcoin can be a better currency than fiat currency. This

⁵¹ European Central Bank,.'Virtual Currency Schemes', 2012, pp 11-14. http://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/other/virtualcurrencyschemes201210en.pdf

⁵² This is according to the time of writing this which is April 2017.



paper highlights the different features of Bitcoin which make it a good candidate for a long-lived stable currency. Let alone an Islamic jurisprudence and economic analysis, this paper fails to offer any legal or economic discussion on the nature of Bitcoin. The paper by Evans (2015), 'Bitcoin in Islamic Banking and Finance' can be considered to be the primary academic work addressing the role of Bitcoin in the Islamic finance industry. This paper suggests that the underlying technology of Bitcoin can conform with the prohibition of Riba (usury) and incorporate the principles of maşlaha (social benefits of positive externalities) and mutual risk-sharing (as opposed to risk-shifting). However, this paper falls short of describing the legal nature of Bitcoin whether it is money in Islamic law or something else. Ammous (2016) challenged the idea of Bitcoin being money by analysing Bitcoin from the economic functions of money. His paper analysed five cryptocurrencies' monetary supply growth, credibility and stability to evaluate whether these currencies have a viable monetary role as a medium of exchange, store of value and unit of account. He concluded that while all cryptocurrencies can theoretically serve as a medium of exchange, they are inherently too unstable to be used as a unit of account. Of the five, only Bitcoin could potentially serve as a store of value, due to its strict commitment to low supply growth, credibly backed by the network's distributed protocol and very large processing power. Thus, conventional researchers are split in their understanding of Bitcoin. To date, no research has been published on how Bitcoin would be perceived under Islamic law.

4.3 Overview of Bitcoin

Bitcoins are cryptocurrencies which are developed by cryptography. Cryptography is the practice of creating algorithms designed on difficult computational assumptions. The underlying software is Blockchain: digital blocks with information inside with cryptographic security surrounding it keeping the information secure (Van Wyk, 2013). In addition, Bitcoin is a decentralised currency - it is not tied to any country. This means that Bitcoin is not under the control of any central bank and nor can it be minted. Bitcoin does not rely on any centralised clearing house or third party to verify money supply and transaction. Rather, it is built on a decentralised network of computers toward the singular purpose of validating and clearing transactions on the Bitcoin Network. The distributed and decentralised network allows each individual user to verify the validity of individual transactions and the system, as a whole, through the cryptographic protocols and the transaction history of the Bitcoin Network. All this data is stored by each user on a distributed ledger known as the Blockchain. Blockchain - a distributed ledger - is stored locally on the computer hard drive of every user running a full version of the Bitcoin software (Scholer, 2016).



The ledger records the history of every transaction sent and confirmed on the Bitcoin Network, including information included as a part of those transactions. Information is added to the Blockchain through the proof of-work "mining" process. Users running a special mining variant of the Bitcoin software expend great amounts of computing power to win the right to add another block to the Blockchain, which is accompanied by a reward of bitcoins (Lewis, 2013).

Although it has been often reported that Bitcoin is an anonymous payment system, the Blockchain is a transparent record of all transactions between users on the Bitcoin Network. Users on the Bitcoin Network are identified by the digital addresses (i.e., hashes of their public keys) that they control, and such digital addresses serve as their pseudonyms on the Blockchain. Thus, Bitcoin is based on a peer-to-peer distribution model as opposed to a client-server model (Lewis, 2013).

Bitcoin solved the 'double spending problem' without using an intermediary – there is only ever the payer and the payee, which makes it literal digital cash. Bitcoin accomplishes this by a publicly distributed ledger of transactions across a peer-to-peer network. That means a record is kept on all transfers so that the same Bitcoin can't be spent by the same person twice. Since this ledger is distributed, there's no single central authority keeping it. As a result, no third party regulates the ledger; there is no government, bank, or any one person or organization for that matter that can control it. Thus, an intermediary like a bank is not required to validate payments.

4.4 Uses of Bitcoin

Bitcoin is being accepted in a growing number of online and offline stores as a form of payment. Other Bitcoin users benefit from Bitcoin as a short-term investment by taking advantage of the price fluctuations. Thus, people are buying low and selling high for a profit. Others benefit from Bitcoin as a long-term investment hoping that the price inflates over a number of years (Van Wyk, 2013). Baur et al. (2015) states that there has been a dramatic increase in Bitcoin users over time from 720,705 users as at the end of 2011 to 6.7 million users as at the end of 2013. The largest group of users by share of Bitcoin and user numbers are hybrid from 41% in 2011 to 47% in 2013. Hybrid users consist of merchants and consumers who hold Bitcoin to purchase goods and services. The second largest user are investors who hold 30.22% of all Bitcoins as at 2013 end despite being the smallest group by user numbers. The fact that such users remain dominant strongly suggests that Bitcoin is mainly a



vehicle for investment rather than for trade. Thus, Baur et al. (2015) argue that Bitcoin falls short of being money as the extreme volatility compromises Bitcoin being a store of value and a unit of account. However, volatility alone is not a sufficient argument to disprove something as a currency. Fiat currencies in the past have also suffered extreme volatility. For example, Zambian kwacha fell 42% against the U.S. dollar in 2015 as copper, which accounts for 70% of the African nation's exports, dropped to a six-year low (Bloomberg, 2015). The Belarusian Ruble experienced a 41.8% drop against the U.S. dollar in 2015, falling from 11,900 Belarusian Rubles to the U.S. dollar on Jan. 1, 2015, to 18,569 on the same day in 2016 (EADaily, 2015). The Argentine peso had suffered a 2015 drop of roughly 35% against the U.S. dollar as of Dec. 24 (Financial Times, 2015). Brazil struggled with headwinds including budget woes, concerns about China's economy and high inflation. Amid these woes, the real dropped 33% against the U.S. dollar in 2015 (Bloomberg, 2016). Mozambique, a nation in southern Africa, struggled to cope with the effects of a decline in exports of sugar, coal and cotton. Economic growth in the nation suffered because of the drop-in shipments to other countries, and amid these difficulties, the metical fell 32% in 2015 (Bloomberg, 2016). Therefore, volatility is not a strong argument to dismiss Bitcoin as a currency. Volatility can be explained by the fact that Bitcoin is still in its infancy and people are speculating on its future.

4.5 Current Opinions in the Finance Industry

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) considers the question of virtual currencies (VCs) qualifying as money with the following:

VCs fall short of the legal concept of currency or money. While there is no generally accepted legal definition of currency or money, the following may be noted:

framework providing for central issuance of banknotes and coins. Currency refers to the unit of account and the medium of exchange denominated by reference to that unit of account, prescribed by law. In the strict sense, currency refers to the banknotes and coins that are issued by a central authority (for example, the central bank) that has the exclusive right to do so. Currencies are given the status of legal tender under the state's legal framework, which generally entitles the debtor to discharge monetary obligations with the currency through its mandatory acceptance within the relevant jurisdiction. As such, the value and credibility of a sovereign currency are intrinsically linked with the ability of the state to support that currency.



• The legal concept of money is also based on the power of the state to regulate the monetary system. As a legal matter, the concept of money is broader than the concept of currency, and includes not only banknotes and coins but also certain types of assets or instruments that are readily convertible into such banknotes and coins (for example, demand deposits). While money can be created by private parties (for example, banks) as well as central banks, it must generally be denominated in a currency issued by a sovereign authority, and must be intended to serve as a generally accepted medium of exchange within that state (Procter 2012).

In terms of the economic understanding of money, the IMF states:

At present, VCs do not completely fulfill the three economic roles associated with money:

- High price volatility of VCs limits their ability to serve as a reliable store of value. VCs are not liabilities of
 a state, and most VCs are not liabilities of private entities either. Their prices have been highly unstable
 (see Figure 2), with volatility that is typically much higher than for national currency pairs. Both prices
 and volatility appear to be unrelated to economic or financial factors, making them hard to hedge or
 forecast (Yermack, 2013).
- The current small size and limited acceptance network of VCs significantly restricts their use as a medium of exchange. Without legal tender status, a VC is accepted only when two parties agree to use it. Despite the very rapid growth of VC-based payments, the number and volume of transactions in VCs remain small. Indeed, the current total market value of VCs is about US\$7 billion. 15 By contrast, U.S. currency in circulation is US\$1.4 trillion, while U.S. money supply (M2) is about US\$12 trillion.
- As of now, there is little evidence that VCs are used as an independent unit of account. In other words,
 rather than being used to measure the value of goods and services directly, they instead represent the
 value in fiat currency based on the VC exchange rate. Retailers who accept payment in VCs will quote
 prices in fiat currency, with the price in VC based on the exchange rate at a particular point in time.

The Bank of England⁵³:

The extent to which an asset serves the various roles of money varies from person to person and over time. In theory, digital currencies could serve as money for anybody with an internet-enabled computer or device. At present, however, digital currencies fulfil the roles of money only to some extent and only for a small number of

⁵³ Bank of England (2014), 'The Economies of Digital Currencies', available at: http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Documents/quarterlybulletin/2014/qb14q3digitalcurrenciesbitcoin2.pdf



people. They are likely at present to regularly serve all three purposes for perhaps only a few thousand people worldwide, and even then only in parallel with users' traditional currencies. The remainder of this section first examines how widely digital currencies are used before assessing this usage against the three functions outlined above.

Athough the views of the IMF and Bank of England are generic to virtual currencies, most virtual currencies and in particular Bitcoin, were produced as currency to be independent of any central authority, transferable electronically, more or less instantly, with very low transaction fees⁵⁴. Therefore, the fact that virtual currencies have an anti-central authority element to it, the opinions of the IMF and the Bank of England which represent central authority may not reflect reality.

5.0 Risks and Challenges for Bitcoin

The following risks are considered to provide a better understanding of Bitcoin.

5.1 Security risk

Since the very nature of Bitcoin is cryptic, the lack of regulatory safeguards and complex technology, it becomes attractive to hackers and fraudsters as there is an extra layer of secrecy within the industry protecting their identity (He et al, 2016). As a result, one of the largest bitcoin exchanges has been hacked and 30,000 customers' data has been compromised in early July 2017 (Business Insider, 2017). Graham (2017) reported that \$32 million worth of a cryptocurrency similar to bitcoin had been hacked. The news of hacking dropped the price of ether, from \$235 to \$196. In fact, in 2014, \$350 million was stolen in cyber theft when Tokyo's MtGox exchange was hacked. Data released by Reuters shows that a third of bitcoin trading platforms have been hacked in the period from 2009 to 2015. In contrast, in the same period, from 6000 operational US banks, only 67 experienced a data breach and cyber theft, roughly 1% of US banks. Fear among investors and users can bring severe volatility and insecurity into the entire industry. The risk is compounded by that the fact there is no current tool to absorb the loss (Reuters, 2016).

5.2 Technological risk

⁵⁴ www.coindesk.com/information/what-is-bitcoin/ (accessed 17th April 2017)



Disruption to the systems and hardware which provide the power and storage space to the cryptocurrency industry can result in losses for bitcoin holders (He et al, 2016). These disruptions pose significant risk to Bitcoin and cryptocurrencies especially as they are not backed and secured by any central authority.

5.3 Money laundering risk

The anonymity and decentralised nature in Bitcoin can provoke money laundering. The Bitcoin user's identity is simply alphanumeric identifiers composed between 27 and 34 characters. Furthermore, they are temporary as users are encouraged to change create new addresses for every transaction. This anonymity can facilitate money laundering. Therefore, any organization or industry which considers using Bitcoin as a currency must consider and factor in advanced anti-money laundering (AML) protocols (PwC, 2014).

5.4 Volatility risk

Bitcoin is considered a bubble waiting to burst. A bubble occurs when there is a difference between the actual value and market price. The actual value of Bitcoin is obscured and the valuation can be based on anything such as its ease of use, the energy used to mine, where it can be used or its technology. This obscurity has reflected in the volatility of Bitcoin. The volatility has increased speculation resulting in Bitcoin investors to hoard and hold Bitcoin instead of spending it, making Bitcoin illiquid and further inflating the bubble (Heintze, 2014). From the inception of Bitcoin until April 2011, the price of one Bitcoin sat below \$1. Thereafter, it gradually increased before increased interest sent the value soaring in the last quarter of 2013 past \$1240 (PwC, 2014). Thus, the practicality of using a currency with such volatility is highly risky and against the preservation of wealth maxim in Sharia.

5.5 Data risk

If a Bitcoin user stores the Bitcoins himself, he can lose access to the Bitcoins permanently by losing the private key. Once the private key is lost, there is no password reminders and no refunds due to its decentralised nature. Therefore, Bitcoin users must make multiple backup copies of the private keys offline to protect the access to their Bitcoins (Consumer Advisory, 2014).



5.6 Transaction risk

Errors in transactions cannot be reversed. Unlike credit cards, consumers have no right to reverse the charges if something goes wrong. As a related matter, a decentralised system places the risks associated with the failure of a transaction on the users of the system. This approach differs fundamentally from a centralised payment system where the central authority would assume this risk.

When using virtual currencies to pay for goods or services, if you don't enter the recipient's 64-character public key perfectly, you will send the funds to the wrong person. If you're not using a hosted wallet provider (a service that helps manage your private keys), there's no mechanism for stopping the payment or getting the money back. And if you do use a hosted wallet provider, the provider may disclaim responsibility for helping you get your funds back (Scholer, 2016).

5.7 Intermediary risk

Intermediary risk refers to the risks related to cryptocurrency wallet providers, exchange platforms and payment processors. Since these intermediaries are not regulated, customers using such intermediaries are particularly vulnerable (He, 2016).

5.8 Regulatory challenge

An uncertain regulatory environment makes it difficult to operate and use Bitcoin in certain jurisdictions. Furthermore, the lack of regulatory framework hinders new product development and service provision in Bitcoin as the uncertainty makes such an endeavor high risk. The lack of regulation only increases the potential of Bitcoin being used for black market exchanges, tax evasion, money laundering and terrorist financing. Cryptocurrencies in general pose a challenge to regulators as virtual currencies combine the properties of currencies, commodities and payment systems. This has led to multiple classifications and impacted their legal and regulatory treatment and regulating agency. For example, the US tax authority classified virtual currencies as 'property' for taxation, whilst the Treasury Department classified virtual currencies as 'value' (He, 2016). Furthermore, if China or any large economy with largest markets for Bitcoin trading ban Bitcoin, the price of Bitcoin would crash. Hence, any regulatory changes can severely impact the world's bitcoin industry.



5.9 Structural Deflation risk

The fixed and finite supply of Bitcoin can lead to structural deflation like the gold standard. Typically, money demand grows in line with the growth of the economy. When the supply of money is nearly fixed, continued money demand growth leads to structural deflation. However, in principle, cryptocurrencies other than Bitcoin could be designed to allow an expansion in money supply, for example in line with transaction volumes, thus helping to overcome their deflationary bias in a growing economy.

5.10 Competition

Another risk posed to Bitcoin is competition. Since Bitcoin is not legal tender and not bound to any jurisdiction, cryptocurrencies are subject to demand and supply forces. Therefore, Bitcoin faces competition from other cryptocurrencies just like investments face competition from competitors. The market share for bitcoin can reduce if other cryptocurrencies offer faster transactions, complete anonymity, greater storage space.

5.11 Bitcoin Scalability Risk

Another risk to Bitcoin is scalability and the failure of bitcoin participants to come to an agreement to manage scalability. The blockchain needs to be able to handle much higher transaction volumes than it is currently handling. At the moment, Bitcoin transactions take from 20-40 minutes to process, therefore, its highly inefficient for merchants who would consider accepting Bitcoin payments (Lielacher, 2017).

5.12 Monopoly risk

Monopoly risk is the fear of one centralised Bitcoin mining operation gaining over 50% control of the blockchain. If any one mining operation gains more than 50%, it could reverse transactions and control trading. A 51% attack involves manipulation of the blockchain itself rather than the protocol that facilitates communication between users and miners. Each block added to the blockchain describes the transactions verified in roughly the previous 10 minutes. Miners compete for the privilege to write the next block and receive a mining reward of new bitcoins. To fraudulently manipulate the blockchain, an attacker would need to consistently out-compete all other miners by wielding a majority of the global computing power spent mining bitcoins (Lloyds, 2015). Th is



level of control would enable a number of malicious activities, including spending the same bitcoin more than once ("double-spending") and preventing certain Bitcoin transactions from being added to the blockchain. This will crumble the entire blockchain and bitcoin industry as the key element of trust will be diminished. Although at the current time, mining operations are spread out across the world and the Bitcoin network is fully decentralised, the risk of monopoly always exists (Lielacher, 2017).

5.13 Liquidity risk

Another risk facing Bitcoins is liquidity risk. Liquidity risk can result in not being able to exchange bitcoins quickly enough to prevent a loss, and it is currently one of the main drivers of Bitcoin price volatility. Bitcoin liquidity risk stems primarily from the limited number of market participants and lack of market depth. Bitcoin's comparatively small market capitalisation makes it particularly vulnerable to large swings in value from relatively small transactions (Lloyds, 2015)

6.0 Risk Assessment in light of the Maqāṣid al-Sharia

Ibn Ashur highlights the *Maqāṣid al-Shariah* pertaining to wealth and summarises the main pillars of *hifz al-Māl* (preservation of wealth) as marketability and circulation (*rawāj*), transparency (*wuḍūh*), preservation (*hifz*), durability (*thabāt*); and equity (*'adl*). The entire notion of *Maqāṣid al-Sharia* (objectives of Shariah) revolves around the preservation of order, achievement of benefit, prevention of harm, establishment of equality among people, causing the law to be revered, obeyed and effective as well as enabling the people to become powerful, respected and confident. *Hifz al Māl* (preservation of wealth) is among the most important of objectives in Shariah. The Muslim jurists state that the concept of *Hifz al Māl* goes beyond its literal meaning. It not only refers to the preservation of wealth, but the concept also covers the encouragement to generate, accumulate, preserve as well as distribute the wealth in a just and fair manner.

6.1 Marketability and circulation

The pillar of marketability and circulation promotes the circulation of wealth and prohibits the hoarding of wealth and speculation. Bitcoin fails in the aspect of marketability and circulation as the volatility has only increased speculation resulting in Bitcoin investors to hoard and hold Bitcoin instead of spending it, making Bitcoin illiquid and further inflating the bubble (Heintze, 2014).



6.2 Transparency

The objective of transparency is to avoid harm and disputes as much as possible. The issue with Bitcoin in terms of transparency is that the entire network is cryptic. Every merchant and trader is anonymous. In addition, a lack of a regulatory framework can cause more dispute.

6.3 Hifz al Māl

The preservation of wealth means protecting the wealth of the community from being ruined and from shifting to the hands of others without compensation. This axiom ensures that wealth is part of a safe, secure system. Since the very nature of Bitcoin is cryptic, the lack of regulatory safeguards and complex technology, it becomes attractive to hackers and fraudsters as there is an extra layer of secrecy within the industry protecting their identity (He et al, 2016). Furthermore, if any large economy bans Bitcoin, the price of Bitcoin would crash. Hence, any regulatory changes can severely impact the world's Bitcoin industry. Therefore, in the current volatile and uncertain nature of cryptocurrency regulatory framework, Bitcoin is highly risky and goes against the dictates of *Hifz al Māl*.

6.4 Durability

Ibn Ashur states that the meaning of durability is that wealth and money should be earned in a valid and lawful manner without any uncertainty and dispute. Bitcoin transactions can be considered durable as transfers and exchanges can be made in a valid and lawful manner. Furthermore, Bitcoin transactions can be exchanged without uncertainty and dispute. Therefore, from the aspect of durability of wealth, Bitcoin passes this condition for the preservation of wealth.

6.5 Equity ('adl)

The final pillar of equity promotes the ethical acquisition of wealth, preservation of the communal wealth by instilling a just and fair system for all and spending this wealth for the benefit of all. Although Bitcoin can be acquired in an ethical manner and can be spent in just causes, there is a big question mark on whether Bitcoin leads to stable preservation of communal wealth. There is a lot of anonymity and lack of transparency to those involved behind the scenes.

6.6 Risk Assessment

Considering the above, Bitcoin fails to fulfil the *Maqāṣid al-Shariah* in terms of preservation of wealth. Bitcoin fails in the aspect of marketability and circulation as the volatility has only increased speculation resulting in



Bitcoin investors to hoard and hold Bitcoin instead of spending it, making Bitcoin illiquid and further inflating the bubble. In addition, the cryptic nature and anonymity opposes the pillar of transparency. This can lead to fraud, money laundering, hacking and cyber theft. In terms of the pillar of preservation, the current volatile and uncertain nature of cryptocurrency regulatory framework makes Bitcoin highly risky. Bitcoin also fails the pillar of equity ('adl) and the communal preservation of wealth.

7.0 Islamic Analysis of Bitcoin

7.1 Islamic Fiqh Analysis of Bitcoin

There are currently three opinions regarding Bitcoin among Shariah scholars⁵⁵:

- 1. **Opinion 1:** Bitcoin in not *Māl* and is purely speculative and a non-Shariah compliant investment
- 2. **Opinion 2:** Bitcoin is a digital asset and not money
- 3. Opinion 3: Bitcoin is currency

All three opinions are considered in this section. For anything to be considered as Māl, it must have:

- 1) Desirability
- 2) Storability

Scholars inclined to opinions 2 & 3 examine the economic demand for Bitcoin: In early March 2017, the value of one Bitcoin surpassed the value of a troy ounce of gold. Bitcoin closed at \$1,268 whilst the troy ounce of gold closed at \$1,233 56 . The market cap of Bitcoin on 17 th April was \$19,756,107,949 57 . On 14 th April, Blockchain recorded a transaction per day figure of 290,208 58 . These factors show a supply and demand factor for Bitcoin indicating to desirability – a component of being $M\bar{a}l$. In respect to storability, Bitcoins are encoded within the Blockchain and are entries on a public ledger. Your ownership is reflected by your Bitcoin address being credited with a balance. Considering this angle, scholars of opinions 2 & 3 suggest that Bitcoins pass the criterion of storability in respect to being $M\bar{a}l$ as they are stored on the shared ledger. In respect to *Taqawwum*, the *Aṣl* and

⁵⁵ These opinions have been expressed in personal discussions with other Shariah scholars

⁵⁶ BBC, 'Bitcoin value tops gold for first time' available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-39149475

⁵⁷ https://blockchain.info/charts/market-cap

⁵⁸ https://blockchain.info/charts/n-transactions



foundational premise is ' $lb\bar{a}hah$ (lawfulness) in respect to items and transactions⁵⁹. Considering that Bitcoins are merely digits, there is no evidence or matter which indicates to them being unlawful. Hence, Bitcoins have *Taqawwum*. Thus, Bitcoin is deemed to be a digital asset to the scholars advocating opinions 2 & 3.

However, scholars who advocate for opinion 1 - Bitcoins are not $M\bar{a}l$ – argue that Bitcoins are just numbers with digital entries on a cryptic blockchain. They have no intrinsic function, utility at all. On the other hand, other digital assets and real assets (' $Ur\bar{u}d$) serve a purpose and function. They have some intrinsic utility and benefit. Bitcoins are just numbers which are fluctuating in value due to pure speculation. There is no real substance or underlying asset; it is just speculation on the fluctuation of numbers. This can result in cryptocurrencies being non-compliant and a form of *maysir* and prohibited speculation. This group of scholars liken Bitcoin to settling price differences, where the objective is purely the fluctuation of price; interestingly, those are digits also.

For those who consider Bitcoin as $M\bar{a}l$, they do so considering it is as something of economic value and being storable, retrievable. According to this opinion, Bitcoin will be a digital asset. They argue that with the technological developments and advancement, it is not necessary for something to be like a classical asset; the very nature of Bitcoin and cryptocurrencies is that it is innovative. To find an example of this classically is almost impossible. They rebut those who say it is not $M\bar{a}l$ and is merely settling of prices and speculation by arguing that Bitcoin is a digital representation of a value which can be transferred and used. The entire digital world can be summarised as algorithms. However, to understand the reality of Bitcoin, one needs to observe the benefits (thamarāt) and uses to see how different it is from other financial assets; Bitcoins can be used and are used to trade. The Bitcoins in themselves are the assets, whereas, derivatives and financial instruments are nothing in themselves but representations of the price fluctuations of underlying assets they represent. Thus, the difference between the two is: The value of Bitcoin is in themselves and not in an underlying asset, whereas, derivatives do not hold any value, instead, the value represents an underlying asset and the derivative contract and instrument is purely a price reflecting the price of the underlying asset.

For Bitcoins to be money and a currency, it must have *Thamaniyyah*. For an asset to have *Thamaniyyah*, it was previously mentioned that it must be:

لِأَنَّ الْأَصْلَ فِي الْبَيْعِ الْجِلُّ {وَأَحَلَّ اللَّهُ الْبَيْعَ} [البقرة: 275] وَإِنَّمَا الْحُرْمَةُ بِعَارِضِ (حاشية الشلبي على التبيين ج 4 ص 87 ط إمدادية)

⁵⁹ وَاعْلَمْ أَنَّ الْأَصْلَ فِي الْأَشْيَاءِ كُلِّهَا سِوَى الْفُرُوجِ الْإِبَاحَةُ قَالَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى {هُوَ الَّذِي خَلَقَ لَكُمْ مَا فِي الأَرْضِ جَمِيعًا} [البقرة: 168] وَإِنَّمَا شِوَى الْفُرُوجِ الْإِبَاحَةُ قَالَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى {هُوَ الَّذِي خَلَقَ لَكُمْ مَا فِي الأَرْضِ جَمِيعًا} [البقرة: 168] وَإِنَّمَا تَثْبُتُ الْحُرْمَةُ بِعَارِضِ نَصٍّ مُطْلَقٍ أَوْ خَبَرٍ مَرْوِيٍّ فَمَا لَمْ يُوجَدْ شَيْءٌ مِنْ الدَّلَائِلِ الْمُحَرِمَةِ فَهِيَ عَلَى الْإِبَاحَةِ (مجمع الأنهرج 2 ص 568 ط دار إحياء التراث العربي)



- 1) An independent standard of value
- 2) A unit of account

The following observations must be considered before suggesting Bitcoin to be a currency: The current state of Bitcoin is that it is not an independent measure of value. Rather, the value of fiat currencies is used to determine the value of Bitcoin. *Thamaniyyah* demands that the currency itself gives a clear reference of value. Bitcoin falls short of being an independent reference of value. Furthermore, the volatility and instability in Bitcoin opposes the entire purpose of money being a stabaliser and balance for our worldly life. Therefore, with the uncertainty and volatility, Bitcoin loses its primary role and function. Something unstable cannot bring stability to others.

According to opinions 2 & 3, Bitcoin can still serve as a medium of exchange in isolated transactions; something which does not have *Thamaniyyah* can still be traded and used as a medium of exchange in a transaction. Bitcoin will then be regarded as *Thaman* (price) in that particular transaction.

However, according opinion 1- Bitcoin not being a real asset or $M\bar{a}l$ - it cannot be used as a medium of exchange whatsoever let alone as an investment.

7.2 Does Bitcoin Qualify as Money in Islam?

Considering all of the above, it is difficult to argue at the current stage that Bitcoin is currency proper in Islamic law due to the following reasons:

- 1. Bitcoin falls short of possessing *Thamaniyyah*.
- 2. There is doubt in Bitcoin being money. The legal maxim states that the *Aşl* and foundational premise in temporary attributes and changeable state (*ṣifāt 'āriḍa*) is that of non-existence (*al-'adm*)⁶⁰. Thus, for other than gold and silver, currency is a changeable state; it is not a permanent attribute. Considering the legal maxim, currency cannot be attributed to Bitcoin unless there is sufficient evidence to suggest otherwise.
- 3. The number of risks associated with Bitcoin undermine the very reasons and objectives money was created to serve.
- 4. Bitcoin fails to uphold the Magāṣid al-Shariah in respect to wealth.

⁶⁰ هذه القاعدة مأخوذة من الأشباه وقد ذكر في الأشباه (الأصل العدم وليس العدم مطلقا وإنما هو في الصفات العارضة). يعني: أن الأصل في الصفات العارضة هو عدم وجود تلك الصفات أما في الصفات الأصلية فالأصل هو وجود تلك الصفات (درر الحكام شرح مجلة الأحكام ج 1 ص 23 طدار الكتب العلمية)



5. The tendency to invest in Bitcoin as opposed to using it as a medium of exchange shows that there is no overriding and encompassing 'Urf (custom) to consider Bitcoin as money.

According to this opinion, Bitcoin would qualify as a digital asset (*Mal*) which possesses value (*Taqawwum*). From a purely *fiqh* and Islamic law perspective, investing in Bitcoin and the return could be considered lawful based on this opinion. However, the following section on the Islamic moral economy framework should also be considered.

7.3 Bitcoin in light of Islamic Moral Economy

Islamic finance is more than just financial contracts being strictly to the letter of the law. Islamic finance is a component of the Islamic moral economy which has a holistic view for the development of the entire economy and society. The objective of sending the Prophets and the establishment of a Godly order on this earth is purely to acquire Masalih (interests) of this world and the hereafter for humanity⁶¹. When considering the objectives of Islamic finance under the wider and greater moral economy framework, Islamic finance has four key themes (Asutay, 2014):

1) Islamic finance is tenet-bound

- a) Absence of interest-based transactions
- b) Avoidance of economic activity involving speculation o
- c) Prohibition on production of goods and services which contradict the values of Islam

2) Islamic finance is principles-based which is grounded in ethics and value

- a) Principles akin to ethical investing
- b) Emphasis on risk-sharing and partnership contracts

3) Islamic finance is embedded financing – real economy linked which offers an alternative paradigm

- a) Asset-backed transactions with investments in real, durable assets
- b) Stability from linking financial services to the productive, real economy
- c) Credit and debt products are not encouraged
- d) Restrains consumer indebtedness



4) Islamic finance has social and development objectives with Islamic banking being community banking

- a) Serving communities, not markets
- b) Aims to enable and function individuals
- c) Open to all-faith clients
- d) Instruments of poverty-reduction are inherent part of Islamic finance (zakat & qard hasan)

The third dimension of real economy and embedded financing is crucial. Islam promotes asset-backed transactions and investments in the real economy. Money should be invested in the real economy, increasing the actual growth of real assets, products and services. Islamic finance theory promotes economic development in three main ways: its direct link to the real economy and physical transactions, its prohibitions against harmful products and activities, and its promotion of economic and social justice. Islamic finance cannot support such conventional finance activities as debt rescheduling, debt swap, speculation, and other purely monetary or financial activities that do not add to the real economy (Kahf, 2007). At the core, the financial system needs to serve the real economy. The purpose of the financial system is intermediation – that is, to match savings and investments for the purpose of generating economic growth (Aziz, 2012). Thus, investing and purchasing Bitcoin does not serve the real economy. People can begin investing and hoarding their wealth in speculative investments and digital assets such as Bitcoin. This does not benefit the real economy and neither do such investments produce real goods, services or jobs. As a result, real economic growth and the GDP can be impacted the more such investments continue. Considering this angle, Bitcoin investments, fall short of fulfilling the spirit of Islamic finance. The data presented by Baur et al. (2015) shows that Bitcoins are mainly used as a speculative investment. Considering the overarching principles of Islamic moral economy and the established principles of investing in the real economy, one should still consider the different arguments before making long-term, concentrated investments in digital assets which are not linked to the real economy. Concentrating all of one's wealth into digital assets can have more harm for the society than good. Investing in such assets are fueled by profit and utility maximization which do not benefit the society nor the real economy; Bitcoin investments do not boost services, labour nor the production of goods.

8.0 What would Cryptocurrencies be if they became Money in future?

Cryptocurrencies have the potential to be money if the proper regulation, stability and framework is established for cryptocurrencies. The previous sections highlighted the different types of money identified in current Islamic discourse which comprised of:



- 1. Al-Thaman al-Khilqī (gold and silver)
- 2. Al-Thaman al-'Urfī (customary money)
 - 2a) Commodity money has intrinsic value allowing it to be used for other functions but does not have intrinsic *Thamaniyyah*.
 - 2b) Fiat money No intrinsic value and therefore does not provide any considerable function besides being a medium of exchange. It has no intrinsic *Thamaniyyah*.

Cryptocurrencies would not fit into the classical types of money. They are not *Thaman Khilqī* nor *Thaman 'Urfī*, rather, they would be a new breed of currencies which share the properties of *Thaman Khilqī*, commodity money, fiat currency and electronic money. They would not qualify as *Thaman Khilqī* as they do not possess intrinsic *Thamaniyyah*; Cryptocurrencies are merely digits. Cryptocurrencies are not commodity money because they do not have any intrinsic value, whereas, commodity money has intrinsic value and serves an alternative function besides being a medium of exchange. Commodity money were initially assets (*'Urūḍ*) which later gained prominence as money. Conversely, cryptocurrencies cannot be considered *'Urūḍ* as *'Urūḍ* have intrinsic value and serve another purpose besides being a medium of exchange (Ibn Nujaym). Thus, when the jurists discuss *Fulūs* (copper and brass coins), they state how *Fulūs* could be sought for their *'ayn* (corpus) and *ṣūrah* (image). However, cryptocurrencies do not have an *'ayn* and nor are they ever sought for their image and corpus. Cryptocurrencies are traded solely for their apparent *Māliyah* (value), similar to *Thaman Khilqī*. However, cryptocurrencies resemble commodity money (*Thaman 'Urfī* or *Thaman Iṣṭilāḥī*) from the angle that the *Thamaniyyah* has come from the people; *Thamaniyyah* is not inherent in them, rather, people have acknowledged *Thamaniyyah*.

Cryptocurrencies are not fiat currency as fiat currencies are part of a centralised system. Furthermore, upon being withdrawn, fiat currencies serve as collectible items due to their coinage. On the other hand, cryptocurrencies are part of a decentralised system. Upon withdrawal or decline, will they serve as collectibles or merely be strands of random digits? Nonetheless, cryptocurrencies resembles fiat currencies from the aspect that in and of itself, it has no intrinsic value, rather, something extrinsic is giving it value. In the case of fiat currencies, it is the government backing that is giving value, whereas, cryptocurrencies draw their value from the trust of people, supply and demand and from the overall concept. Cryptocurrencies are not electronic money. Electronic money is part of the centralised system and a digital representation of a fiat currency (Bank of England, 2014).



9.0 Is Centralisation Necessary for Money in Islam?

Until the caliphate of Abdul Malik ibn Marwān, the Islamic government did not control the currency nor its coinage. The Islamic government did not have a 'Royal Mint', however, Sayyiduna 'Umar ibn al-Khaṭṭāb raḍiyallahu 'anhu did introduce some measures to stabilise the alloy, content and weight of silver coins. In the year 74 AH, the government of Abdul Malik ibn Marwān established a monetary system and an Islamic dirham⁶². Furthermore, mint houses were established which took control of the coins in circulation and improved the quality and consistency of the currencies⁶³.

In the early decades of Islam, money was thus decentralised and left to public practice. However, one may argue that money was still centralised since the Muslims used the Dinar – a Byzantine currency – and Dirham – a Persian currency.

The Hanafi jurists state that $Ta'\bar{a}mul$ can establish currency just as coinage and minting from the government established currency⁶⁴. The Hanafi jurists reasoned that anything minted and centralised would give a known benchmark and point of reference, thus, creating ease in the markets and facilitating transactions.

The Shafi'ī jurists state that it is disliked for other than the government to mint coins and currency as it was the role of the government. Furthermore, it was a secure method to combat counterfeiting, forgery and corruption⁶⁵.

⁶² (وَأَوَّلُ ضَرْبِ الدَّرَاهِمِ) فِي الْإِسْلَامِ (عَلَى عَهُدِ الْحَجَّاجِ) الثَّقَفِيِّ فِي خِلَافَةِ عَبْدِ الْلَلِكِ بْنِ مَرْوَانَ. .(مطالب أولي النهى في شرح غاية المنتهى ج 3 ص 184 ط المكتب الإسلامي)

⁶³ Zarra-Nezhad, M. (2004), 'A Brief History of Money in Islam and Estimating the Value of Dirham and Dinar', Ahvaz: Shahid Chamran University

⁶⁴ وَجْهُ الْأَوَّلِ وَهُوَ ظَاهِرُ الْمُذْهَبِ أَنَّ التَّمَنِيَّةَ تَخْتَصُّ بِالضَّرْبِ الْمُخْصُوصِ لِأَنَّهُ عِنْدَ ذَلِكَ لَا يُصْرَفُ إِلَى شَيْءٍ آخَرَظَاهِرًا إِلَّا أَنْ يَجْرِيَ التَّعَامُلُ بِاسْتِعْمَالِهَا ثَمَنًا فَيَنْزِلُ التَّعَامُلُ بِمَنْزِلَةِ الضَّرْبِ فَيَكُونُ ثَمَنًا وَيَصْلُحُ رَأْسُ الْمَالِ.(مجمع الأنهرج 1 ص 720 المعرفة)

⁶⁵ قَالَ الشَّافِعِيُّ وَالْأَصْحَابُ رَحِمَهُمُ اللَّهُ يُكْرَهُ لِلْإِمَامِ ضَرْبُ الدَّرَاهِمِ الْمُغْشُوشَةِ لِلْحَدِيثِ الصَّحِيحِ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَسَلَّمَ قَالَ (مَنْ غَشَّنَا فَلْسَ مِثَّا) رَوَاهُ الْبُخَارِيُّ وَمُسْلِمٌ مِنْ رِوَايَةِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ ولان فيه افسادا للنقود واضرار بذوى الْحُفُوقِ وَغَلَاءَ الْأَسْعَارِوَانْقِطَاعَ الْأَجْلَابِ وَغَيْرَ ذَلِكَ مِنْ الْمُفَاسِدِ قَالَ أَصْحَابُنَا وَيُكْرَهُ لِغَيْرِ الْإِمَامِ ضَرْبُ الْمُغْشُوشِ لِمَا ذَكَرْنَا فِي الْإِمَامِ وَلِأَنَّ فِيهِ افْتِنَاتًا عَلَى الْإِمَامِ وَلِأَنَّهُ يَخْفَى فَيَغْتَرُبِهِ النَّاسُ بِخِلَافِ ضَرْبٍ الْإِمَامِ قَالَ الْقَاضِي أَبُو الطَّيِّبِ فِي الْمُجَرَّدِ وَغَيْرُهُ مِنْ الْأَصْحَابِ قَالَ أَصْحَابُنَا وَيُكْرَهُ أَيْضًا لِغَيْرِ الْإِمَامِ ضَرْبُ الدَّرَاهِمِ وَالدَّنَانِيرِوان كَانَتْ خَالِصَةً لِأَنَّهُ مِنْ شَأْنِ الْإِمَامِ وَلِأَنَّهُ لا يؤمن فيه لغش وَالْإِفْسَادُ قَالَ الْقَاضِي أَبُو الطَّيِّبِ قَالَ أَصْحَابُنَا وَمُنْ مَلَكَ دَرًاهِمَ مَلْشُوشَةً كُرِهَ لَهُ إِمْسَاكُهَا بَلْ يَسْفِكُهَا وَيُصَافِعُهَا قَالَ



The Hanbali jurists are explicit in stating that it is not permissible for the Sultan to ban the currency commonly used by people as it will cause financial harm to the people, unless they are recompensed proportionately in the new currency without a fee⁶⁶. Considering the benefit and harm for the masses, Imam al-Ṣuyūṭī (d. 911 H) also states that it is disliked for the government to withdraw or nullify a currency commonly used among people⁶⁷. Al-Buhūtī (d.1051 H) says that the reason why the government should solely take control of minting is to benefit the people and to make it easy for them in their transactions and affairs⁶⁸.

From the above, it is evident that the jurists and economists in Islam favoured a centralised monetary system because of the following reasons:

1) Trust in the currency

الْقَاضِي إِلَّا إِذَا كَانَتْ دَرَاهِمَ الْبَلَدِ مَغْشُوشَةً فَلَا يُكْرَهُ إِمْسَاكُهَا وَقَدْ نَصَّ الشَّافِعِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ عَلَى كَرَاهَةِ إِمْسَاكِ الْغَشُوشِ وَاتَّفَقَ الْأَصْحَابُ عَلَيْهِ لِأَنَّهُ يغربه وَرَثَتَهُ إِذَا مَاتَ وَغَيْرُهُمْ فِي الْحَيَاةِ كَذَا عَلَلَهُ الشَّافِعِيُّ وَغَيْرُهُ وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى أَعْلَمُ. (المجموع ج 6 ص 10-11 ط دارالفكر)

الثَّالِثَةُ: قَالَ فِي شَرِّحِ الْمُهَنَّبِ قَالَ الشَّافِعِيُّ وَالْأَصْحَابُ: يُكْرَهُ لِلْإِمَامِ ضَرْبُ الدَّرَاهِمِ المُغْشُوشَةِ لِلْحَدِيثِ الصَّحِيحِ: («مَنْ غَشَّ فَلَيْسَ مِنَّا») وَلِأَنَّ فِيهِ إِفْسَادًا لِلنُّقُودِ وَإِضْرَارًا بِدَوِي الْحُقُوقِ وَغَلَاءَ الْأَسْعَارِ، وَانْقِطَاعَ الْأَجْلَابِ وَغَيْرُ ذَلِكَ مِنَ الْمُفَاسِدِ، قَالَ أَصْحَابُنَا: وَيُكْرَهُ لِغَيْرِ الْإِمَامِ ضَرْبُ الْمُغْشُوشِ لِمَا ذَكَرْنَاهُ فِي الْإِمَام، وَلِأَنَّ فِيهِ افْتِئَاتًا عَلَى الْإِمَام وَلِأَنَّهُ يَحْفَى فَيُغْتَرُّهِ بِخِلَافِ ضَرْبِ الْإِمَام.

الرَّابِعَةُ: قَالَ الْأَصْحَابُ: يُكْرَهُ لِغَيْرِ الْإِمَامِ ضَرْبُ الدَّرَاهِمِ وَالدَّنَانِيرِوَإِنْ كَانَتْ خَالِصَةً لِأَنَّهُ مِنْ شَأْنِ الْإِمَامِ وَلِأَنَّهُ لَا يُؤْمَنُ فِيهِ الْغِشُّ وَالْإِفْسَادُ. (الحاوي للفتاوي ج 1 ص 119 ط دارالفكر)

⁶⁷ الْأُولَى: يُكْرَهُ لِلْإِمَامِ إِبْطَالُ الْمُعَامَلَةِ الْجَارِيَةِ بَيْنَ النَّاسِ لِمَا أَخْرَجَهُ أبو داود عَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ قَالَ: («نَهى رَسُولُ اللَّهِ صَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ وَسَلَّمَ أَنْ تُكْسَرَ سِكَّةُ الْمُسْلِمِينَ الْجَارِيَةُ بَيْنَهُمْ إِلَّا مِنْ بَأْسٍ») . (الحاوي للفتاوى ج 1 ص 119 ط دارالفكر)

⁸⁸ (يَنْبَغِي لِلسُّلْطَانِ أَنْ يَضْرِبَ لَهُمْ) أَيْ الرَّعَايَا (فُلُوسًا تَكُونُ بِقِيمَةِ الْعَدْلِ فِي مُعَامَلَاتِهِمْ مِنْ غَيْرِظُلْمٍ لَهُمْ) <u>تَسْمِيلًا عَلَيْمْ، وَتَيْسِيرًا لِلَعَاشِمِمْ</u> (وَلَا يَتَّجِرُذُو السُّلْطَانِ فِي الْفُلُوسِ، بِأَنْ يَشْتَرِيَ نُحَاسًا فَيَضْرِبَهُ فَيَتَّجِرَ فِيهِ) <u>لأَنَّهُ تَضْيِيقٌ.</u>

(وَلَا بِأَنْ يُحَرِّمَ عَلَيْمِ الْفُلُوسَ الَّتِي بِأَيْدِيهِمْ وَيَضْرَبُ لَهُمْ غَيْرَهَا) لِأَنَّهُ إِضْرَارٌ بِالنَّاسِ، وَخُسْرَانٌ عَلَيْمِ (بَلْ يَضْرِبُ) النُّحَاسَ فُلُوسًا (بِقيمَتِهِ مِنْ غَيْرِرِيْحٍ فِيهِ لِلْمَصْلَحَةِ الْعَامَّةِ، وَيُعْطِي أُجْرَةَ الصُّنَّاعِ مِنْ بَيْتِ الْمَالِ فَإِنَّ التِّجَارَةَ فِهَا ظُلُمٌ عَظِيمٌ مِنْ أَبْوَابٍ ظُلْمٌ عَظِيمٌ مِنْ أَبْوَابٍ ظُلْمٌ عَظِيمٌ مِنْ الْأَمْوَالِ بِنَقْصِ أَسْعَارِهَا فَظَلَمَهُمْ فِيمَا يَضْرِبُهُ بِإِغْلَاءٍ سِعْرِهَا قُلْت: وَقَدْ وَقَعْ عَلَى مَا كَانَ عِنْدَهُمْ مِنْ الْأَمْوَالِ بِنَقْصِ أَسْعَارِهَا فَظَلَمَهُمْ فِيمَا يَضْرِبُهُ بِإِغْلَاءٍ سِعْرِهَا قُلْت: وَقَدْ وَقَعْ وَقَعْ وَالْعَامِلَةَ عَلَيْهِمْ الضَّرَدُ. (كشاف القناع ج 2 ص 232 ط دار الكتب العلمية)



- 2) Presence of a regulatory framework
- 3) Secure system
- 4) Wide acceptance
- 5) Ease for the people in pricing and transacting
- 6) A benchmark for transactions

Thus, if these characteristics are found in a decentralised system, there is nothing to prohibit such a system in Islam. These underpinning principles are the ideals for currency and money in Islam. The government and ruling authority would have been the most efficient and instrumental in achieving these ideals. It is on the back of this it seems that classical scholars favoured a centralised system. However, the reality is that the Quran and Sunnah have not defined currency, instead, they have left it to the understanding of the people and custom of the people as mentioned by Imam Ibn Taymiyyah (d.728 H). This is a common feature for those aspects of law which are fluid, dynamic and adjustable⁶⁹.

Considering that a centralised system is not necessary, Shaykh Abdullah al-Mani' states:

"Money is thus whatever is agreed to be such, whether by government authority or public practice⁷⁰." Thus, money can be determined by centralisation and decentralisation. If a decentralised system can provide benefits similar to that of a centralised system, a medium of exchange can become money through public practice and widespread acceptance.

10.0 Conclusion

This research used an inductive process by interpreting classical legal texts to identify the principles of defining money in Islamic law. Three elements were identified for anything to be considered as money: $M\bar{a}l$ (wealth), Taqawwum (legal value) and Thamaniyyah (monetary usage). The concept of $M\bar{a}l$ was analysed; different definitions and understandings were presented. A famous definition was "what is normally desired and can be stored up for the time of need". Two key criteria for $M\bar{a}l$ were highlighted from this definition: "desirability" and "storability". Storability simply referred to something retrievable for use at a future date. On the other hand,

 69 المدخل لدراسة الفقه الإسلامي للدكتور صلاح أبو الحاج 70 الورق النقدى حقيقته تاريخه قيمته حكمه



desirability referred to something beneficial and lawful for use which people had an inclination to. The second condition was Taqawwum, which meant that the asset must be lawful. The final condition was Thamaniyyah. Thamaniyyah referred to the potential of something to be a measure of value and be commonly used as a medium of exchange. Upon analysing Bitcoin to see if these criteria were met, arguably, Bitcoin is Māl and has Tagawwum. However, Bitcoin fails to fulfil the role of money which has been described by Shariah and thus cannot be considered to possess Thamaniyyah. This was ascertained by considering the associated risks with Bitcoin as well as the Maqāṣid al-Shariah. The following risks were ascertained in relation to Bitcoin: Security risk, technological risk, money laundering risk, volatility risk, data risk, transaction risk, intermediary risk, regulatory challenge, structural deflation risk, competition, Bitcoin scalability risk, monopoly risk, liquidity risk. After highlighting the above risks, Bitcoin was screened to see if it passes the Magāṣid al-Shariah principle of preservation of wealth. Bitcoin failed in terms of marketability, circulation, transparency, hifz al-Māl and equity ('adl). Bitcoin failed in the aspect of marketability and circulation as the volatility has only increased speculation resulting in Bitcoin investors to hoard and hold Bitcoin instead of spending it, making Bitcoin illiquid and further inflating the bubble. The issue with Bitcoin in terms of transparency was that the entire network is cryptic. Every merchant and trader is anonymous. In addition, a lack of a regulatory framework can cause more dispute. Bitcoin failed in terms of hifz al-Māl since the very nature of Bitcoin is cryptic. With the lack of regulatory safeguards and complex technology, Bitcoin has become an attractive prospect to hackers and fraudsters as there is an extra layer of secrecy within the industry protecting their identity. Furthermore, any regulatory changes can severely impact the world's bitcoin industry. Bitcoin was further assessed in terms of the principles of Islamic moral economy. A key theme and objective of Islamic moral economy is embedded financing and investments linked to the real economy. Bitcoin and cryptocurrency investments do not serve the real economy and do not promote real growth of an economy. Therefore, considering the overarching principles of Islamic moral economy and the established principles of investing in the real economy, one should consider the different arguments before making long-term, concentrated investments in digital assets which are not linked to the real economy. Concentrating all of one's wealth into digital assets can have more harm for the society than good. Investing in such assets are fueled by profit and utility maximization. Investing in Bitcoin does not benefit the society nor the real economy; Bitcoin investments do not boost services, labour nor the production of goods. Nevertheless, any return on Bitcoin investments would be lawful and Shariah compliant according to this argument.

And Allah Ta'ālā Alone Knows Best

Mufti Faraz Adam

Amanah Finance Consultancy



Bibliography

Abul Haaj, S. (2005), al-Madhkal, Amman: Dar al-Amman

Ammous, S. (2016). Blockchain Technology: What is it good for? Lebanese American University, Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2832751

Asmatullah. (2013). Money and its Usage. Karachi: Darul Ishaat.

al-Ayni (1990), al-Binayah fi sharh al-Hidayah, Beirut: Dar al-Fikr

Al-Baḥūtī, M.I. (2015). Sharh Muntaha al Iradat. 3rd ed. Beirut: Ar risalah al Alamiyyah.

Al-Ghazali (2011), Ihya Ulum al-Din, Jeddah: Dar al-Minhaj

Al-Kasani (1986), Badai al-Sana'i', Beirut: Dar al-Kutub al-ilmiyyah

Al-Marghinanī, A.A (2008). Al Hidayah fi sharh al bidayah al mubtadi. 2nd ed. Karachi: Maktabah al Bushra.

Al-Shilbi, (1897), Hashiya 'ala Tabyin al-Haqa'iq, Egypt: al-Bolaq

Al-Suyuti, J. (2004), al-Hawi li al-Fatawa, Beirut: Dar al-Fikr

al-Suyuyi, J. (1983), al-Ashbah wa'l-Naza'ir, Beirut: Dar al-Kutub

al-Zarkashi, (n.d.), Al Manthur fi al-Qawa'id al-Shari'yyah, Beirut: Dar al-Kutub

al-Zuhayli, W. (1985), Al-Fiqh al-Islami wa Adillatuhu, Damascus: Dar al-Fikr

Asutay, M. (2014), Searching for Ethics in Islamic Finance, London: SOAS, available at: http://www.the-ifes.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/ASUTAY-ISLAMIC-MORAL-ECONOMY-FOUNDATIONS-OF-ISLAMIC-FINANCE-SOAS.ppt.pdf

Aziz, Z. (2012), Finance and the real economy, BIS: Jakarta, available at: http://www.bis.org/review/r121220b.pdf

Bal, A. (2015). Bitcoin Transactions: Recent Tax Developments and Regulatory Responses. *Derivatives & Financial Instruments*, 17(5).

Bank of England. (2014). 2014 Q1. Quarterly Bulletin, 54(1).

Baur, D., Lee, A., & Hong, K. (2014). Bitcoin: Currency or Investment? SSRN.

BBC (2017), Bitcoin value tops gold for first time, available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-39149475



BBC. (2017). *Bitcoin value tops gold for first time*. Retrieved from bbb.co.uk: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-39149475

blockchain.info. (2017). Transactions per day. Retrieved from blockchain.info.

Bloomberg (2015), *Zambia Consumer Prices Climb Most Since 2003 as Kwatcha Slides*, Available at: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-12-31/zambia-consumer-prices-climb-most-since-2003-as-kwacha-slides

Bloomberg (2016), *Brazil real leads losses in emerging markets on Chinese data*, Available at: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-01-04/brazil-s-real-leads-losses-in-emerging-markets-on-chinese-data

Choudhury, M. A (2014), Money in Islam: A Study in Islamic Political Economy, Routledge; Reprint edition (2014);

Coinify (2017), How much time does it take for the Bitcoins to be delivered, available at: https://www.coinify.com
Davies, G. (2002), A History of Money, Cardiff: University of Wales Press

Desjardins, J. (2016). Most Traded Currencies in 2016. Retrieved from Visual Capitalist: visualcapitalist.com

Evans, C. (2015). Bitcoin in Islamic Banking and Finance. Journal of Islamic Banking and Finance, 3(1), 1-11.

EADaily (2015), Belarusian ruble hits record low rate against US Dollar, Available at:

https://eadaily.com/en/news/2015/11/24/belarusian-ruble-hits-record-low-rate-against-us-dollar

FCA (2016), *Electronic Money Regulations' Available*, at: https://www.fca.org.uk/firms/electronic-money-regulations

Financial Times (2015), *Markets in 2015 and the darling and the dogs*, Available at: http://www.ft.com/fastft/2015/12/24/markets-in-2015-the-darlings-and-the-dogs/

Froystad, H. (2015). *Blockchain: powering the internet of value.* Evry. Evry.

Graham, L. (2017), *\$32 million worth of digital currency ether stolen by hackers,* CNBC, available at: http://www.cnbc.com/2017/07/20/32-million-worth-of-digital-currency-ether-stolen-by-hackers.html



Guarino et al, (2009), What is Ontology, Koblenz: University of Koblenz, Available at: http://iaoa.org/isc2012/docs/Guarino2009_What_is_an_Ontology.pdf

Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing Paradigms in qualitative research. In N.K Denzin & Y. S. Lincoin, Handbook of qualitative research (pp.105-117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Hayder, A. (2003), Durar al-Hukkam Sharh Majallah al-Ahkam, Beirut: Dar alam al-Kutub

He et al, (2016), Virtual Currencies and Beyond: Initial Considerations' IMF working paper

Ibn Abidin (2012), Nashr al-Urf, Mardan: Markaz al-Buhuth al-Islamiyya

Ibn Nujaym, Z.A. (2011). Al Ashaah wa'n nadhair. Beirut: Al maktabah al Asariyyah.

Ibn Qudamah (1997), al-Mughni, Beirut: Dar Alam al-Kutub

Ibn Taymiyyah, (2005) Majmu' al-Fatawa, Egypt: Dar ibn Hazm

Inman, P. (2017), Why bitcoin and its digital cousins are under scrutiny, Guardian, Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2017/jul/31/cryptocurrencies-more-investment-way-pay-bitcoin-regulation

Kahf, M. (2007), Islamic Banks at the Threshold of the Third Millennium, Thunderbird International Business Review, 41, 4, 6-16.

Lielacher, A. (2017), *Bitcoin as an investment: Opportunities and Risks,* Nasdaq, available at: http://www.nasdaq.com/article/bitcoin-as-an-investment-opportunities-and-risks-cm740800

Lewis, A. (2013), *A Gentle Introduction to Bitcoin,* Brave New Coin, Available at: https://bravenewcoin.com/assets/Reference-Papers/A-Gentle-Introduction/A-Gentle-Introduction-To-Bitcoin-WEB.pdf

Lloyds (2015), Bitcoin: Risk factors for insurance, Emerging Risk Report, Innovation series

Luo, G.Y (1999), *The Evolution of Money as a medium of exchange,* in Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control pp.415-458 New Jersey



Mani, A. (1984). Paper Money: Its reality, history, value and legal ruling.

Manjoo, F.A. (n.d.). Reviewing the concept of shares: Towards a dynamic legal perspective. Available at: http://www.kantakji.com/media/163525/file519.pdf

Mankiw, N. G., (2007). Macroeconomics (6th Ed.). New York: Worth Publishers

Meera, A. (2002) Islamic Gold Dinar, Pelanduk Publications Sdn Bhd

Mohsin, D. M. (2009), *Islamic Economics*, Kuala Lumpur: INCEIF

Nakamoto, S. (2008). Bitcoin: A Peer-to-Peer Electronic Cash System.

Narayanan, A., Bonneau, J., Felten, E., Miller, A., & Goldfeder, S. (2016). *Bitcoin and Cryptocurrency Technologies: A Comprehensive Introduction*. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Presley, J. & Sessions, J. (1994) *Islamic Economics: The Emergence of a New Paradigm*, Loughborough University of Technology, Department of Economics

PwC. (2014). Virtual Currencies: Out of the deep web, into the light. PwC, London.

Sanusi, M. (2002). Gold Dinar, Paper Currency and Monetary Stability: An Islamic View. *Viability of The Islamic Dinar*, e-book

Saud, M. (2002), *Money, interest and Qirad in* IIUM in Journal of Economics and Management 10 (1) IIUM: The International Islamic University Malaysia

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research methods for business students*. Edinburgh: Pearson Education Limited.

Scholer, K. (2016), *An Introduction to Bitcoin and Blockchain Technology*, Available at: http://files.apks.com/docs/IntrotoBitcoinandBlockchainTechnology.pdf

Taylor, S. (2015). *Blockchain: understanding the potential*. Barclays. Barclays.

Uthmani, T. (2013), Buhuth Fi Qadhaya Fiqhiyya Mu'asarah, Damascus: Dar al-Qalam



Uthmani, T. (2014), Figh al-Buyu, Karachi: Maktabah Ma'arif al-Qur'an

Von Mises, L.(1912), The Theory of Money & Credit, Yale: Yale University Press

Van Wyk, G., (2013), *The Idiots Guide to Bitcoin*, Available online at: http://idiotsguidetobitcoin.com/images/Idiots Guide to Bitcoin v1.0.pdf

Wan Yussof, W., Ismail, A., Ahmed, S., & Ahmad, S. (2015). The Originality of Qard and its Implication on the Loan Theory. pp.13-28.

Wohidul Islam, M. (1999), *Al-Mal: The Concept of Property in Islamic Legal Thought* in Arab Law Quarterly 14 (3), pp. 361-368, Brill

Wray, L.R. (2012), *Introduction to an Alternative History of Mone*y, Working paper No.717, Levy Economics Institute

XE (2017), Why are you interested in XBT?, Available at: http://www.xe.com/currency/xbt-bitcoin#additionalinfo

Yaacob, S. (2014). The Ruling of Paper Money Usage: Analysis Based on the Evolution. *Asian Social Science*, 10(3), pp.86-93.

Zarra-Nezhad, M. (2004), A Brief History of Money in Islam and Estimating the Value of Dirham and Dinar, Ahvaz: Shahid Chamran University